GROWTH AND PROTEIN DIGESTIBILITY OF TAMBAQUI, COLOSSOMA MACROPOMUM, CUVIER 1818, FED DIETS BASED ON FISH SILAGE

CENTRE FOR NEWFOUNDLAND STUDIES

TOTAL OF 10 PAGES ONLY MAY BE XEROXED

(Without Author's Permission)







National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

Acquisisitons et services bibliographiques

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada 395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-83982-6 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-83982-6

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, Ioan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou alurement reproduits sans son autorisation.

Canada

GROWTH AND PROTEIN DIGESTIBILITY OF TAMBAQUI, COLOSSOMA MACROPOMUM, CUVIER 1818, FED DIETS BASED ON FISH SILAGE

by

Andréa Bezerra, B. Sc.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Aquaculture Department Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2002

St. John's Newfoundland

Abstract

It is recognized that the cost of artificial fish feed makes a significant contribution to the costs of an aquaculture operation. In order to decrease the dietary costs an alternative protein source to traditional fish meal is needed. Silage is often used, however there is a lack of research on the utilization of silage as a main source of protein in fish diets in the Northeast of Brazil. Hence, this thesis was undertaken to determine the growth and apparent protein digestibility of tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomun*, when fed diets based on formic acid and biological fermented silage compared to a control fishmeal diet.

Fish silage was obtained by the addition of formic acid to minced tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus. Lactobacillus plantarum* was used as inoculum and molasses as the carbohydrate source. Chemical composition, pH, total and free amino acid of the silages were determined. Formic acid and biologically fermented silage stored for 4 and 30 days were co-dried with wheat bran and incorporated into the diet of juvenile tambaqui as the main source of protein. The control diet was formulated using fishmeal as the main source of protein. The 5 experimental diets and the control diet were isocaloric and isonitrogenous.

The growth experiment used fifteen round concrete tanks (3 for each diet) with 15 fish per tank. Fish were fed twice a day at a rate of 3% of body weight. The fish were weighed every 15 days to determine the amount of food to be given, and to calculate

i.

growth parameters such as; average daily gain, specific growth rate, feed conversion rate and protein efficiency rate. Fifteen aquaria were used for the digestibility experiment. Each aquarium was stocked with 5 juvenile tambaqui. Chromic oxide was used as a marker and feces were collected from the bottom of the water column twice daily.

Results showed that both acid and biological silages had good storage properties. The variations in moisture, protein, lipid and ash between the four silages (formic acid silage stored for 4 and 30 days and biological silage stored for 4 and 30 days), that were included in the fish diets, did not induce any significant change in the amino acid profile of silage diets and the amino acids requirements for tambaqui were met. Although formic acid silage, stored for 4 and 30 days, showed higher protein solubilization and higher levels of free amino acid at the end of the 30 days storage period compared to the biologically fermented silage, there was no significant difference in growth and digestibility between treatments.

Based on the excellent acceptability of all diets tested by juvenile tambaqui, good protein digestibility and the satisfactory growth performance obtained in this study, we concluded that co-dried tilapia fish silage could be successfully utilized as an alternative protein source for fishmeal in fish diets. In this way, it is possible to utilize processing wastes for producing valuable animal protein and, furthermore, make a contribution to the protection of the environment.

ii

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. A. M. Martin my supervisor, for his guidance, encouragement and patience during the course of this study, without which this work would have never been possible.

Special thanks go to the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) for providing the financial support through the Marine Science Scholarship Programme operated by the Canadian Centre for International Training and Development (CCIFTD) and especially to its executive director Dr. A. Dickinson.

I thank Dr. Steven Goddard for sharing his fish nutrition expertise during the first phases of this study.

I am very thankful to my father Professor José William Bezerra e Silva from the Federal University of Ceará, Brazil, whose unceasing enthusiasm and willingness to share his expertise in fish nutrition was essential to the successful completion of my studies. My parents have, more than I can say, helped me throughout my academic career to them I extend my sincere gratitude.

I wish to acknowledge the friendship and support of Mrs. Colleen Clarke who was always ready to help whenever I needed it. I also want to express my thanks to my friend Henrique Silva for his help with the different computer programs I used during the completion of this thesis, and to Boris Tomicic for his encouragement to continue whenever I felt like giving up.

iii

I dedicate this thesis to my husband Tony, who has helped me immensely with his understanding, support and encouragement and most of all for sharing with me his passion for the sea, and to my children Andrew and Alyssa for bringing so much joy into my life.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	
List of Figures	viii
List of appendices	ix
CHAPTER 1	
1.0 Introduction	1
CHAPTER II	6
2.0 Literature review	6
2.1. Nutrient requirements of fish	6
2.2 Protein and amino acid requirements of fish	6
2.3 Energy halance in fish	0
2.4. Sources of energy for fish	11
2.4.1. Protein as a dietary energy source	11
2.4.2. Carbohydrate as a dietary energy source	12
2.4.3. Linids as a dietary energy source	12
2.5 Directibility measurements in fich	
2.6. Salaction of diatary ingradiants for fish diata	10
2.7. Fish silage	
2.7.1 Fish silage by acid preservation	
2.7.2. Fish silage by hiological farmantation	
2.7.2. Fish shage by biological termentation.	
CUADTED III	
2.0 Material and material	
2.1 Olympic and methods.	
3.1. Shage preparation	
3.2. Analytical methods	
3.2.1. pr.	
3.2.2. Moisture Content	
3.2.3. Ash Content	
3.2.4. Lipid Content	
3.2.5. Total Nitrogen	
3.2.6. Soluble protein	
3.2.7. Amino acids analysis	30
3.2.7.1. Total amino acids	30
3.2.7.2. Free amino acids and ammonia	30
3.3. Growth and digestibility trials	
3.3.1. Preparation of diets	
3.3.2. Experimental design	
3.3.3. Growth trial	
3.3.4. Digestibility trial	
3.3.4.1. Fecal collection procedure	34

3.3.4.2. Chromic Oxide determination	
3.3.4.3. Apparent protein digestibility	
3.4 Proximate analysis of fish carcass	
3.5. Statistical analysis	
CHAPTER IV	
4.0 Results and Discussion	
4.1. Nutritional and storage characteristics of fish silage	
4.1.1. pH.	
4.1.2. Proximate composition of fish silage	
4.1.2.1. Protein content	
4.1.2.2. Moisture content	39
4.1.2.3. Lipid content	39
4.1.3. Changes in the Protein fraction during fermentation of tilapia	42
4.1.3.1. Soluble protein	42
4.1.3.2 Total amino acids	44
4.1.3.3. Free amino acids	47
4.1.3.4. Protein autolysis in tilapia silage	48
4.2. Proximate analysis of the ingredients used in the diets	52
4.3. Formulation and proximate analysis of the experimental diets	52
4.4. Water Quality	56
4.5. Growth response and feed utilization	57
4.5.1. Growth	57
4.5.2. Dietary protein utilization	64
4.5.3. Apparent feed conversion ratio	65
4.6. Protein digestibility	65
4.6.1. Chromic oxide content in feed and feces	65
4.6.2. Apparent protein digestibility	68
4.8. Fish carcass composition	69
CHAPTER V	71
5.0 Conclusion	71
REFERENCES	72

List of Tables

Table 7- pH, NH₃ and NH₄ of the experimental tanks used in the 90 days growth trial 59

List of Figures

Figure 1 - Taxonomy of Tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum2
Figure 2 - Cement tanks used during growth trial
Figure 3 - pH of the tilapia silage during fermentation at 30° C
Figure 4- Composition of tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, minced and ensiled by acid and biological methods stored for 30 days41
Figure 5– Soluble Nitrogen (g/100g N) of tilapia silage during fermentation at 30°C43
Figure 6– Protein autolysis of formic acid tilapia silage stored for 30 days at 30°C 50
Figure 7 - Protein autolysis of biological fermented silage stored for 30 days at $30^{\circ}\text{C}51$
Figure 8– Water Temperature and Dissolved Oxygen (DO) of the experimental tanks used in the 90 days growth trial
Figure 9- Growth response of tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum juvenile fed experimental diets

Figure 10- Absorbance readings for the determination of Cr₂O₃......67

List of appendices

Appendix 1 - Correlation coefficient of the storage days and the amount of total amino acid in formic acid and biological fermented silage
Appendix II - Correlation coefficient of the storage days and the amount of free amino acid in formic acid and biological fermented silage
Appendix III - Frequency data for initial and final fish weight in the 5 diets
Appendix IV - Paired sample correlation for initial and final fish weight in the 5 diets86
Appendix V - Analyses of variance (one-way anova) for the effect of each diet on growth parameters
Appendix VI - Cr ₂ O ₃ content in fish feces
Appendix VII - Average protein content of fish feces and experimental diets used in each treatment
Appendix VII - Analyses of variance (one-way anova) for the effect of each diet on fish

CHAPTER I

1.0 Introduction

Tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, is one of the most promising candidates for fish culture in fresh waters of Latin America because of its complimentary characteristics, such as its omnivorous feeding habit when juvenile, excellent growth food conversion, high degree of adaptation to adverse factors such as oxygen depletion and high population density, resistance to disease and good acceptance for human consumption. Some aspects of its potential have been studied (Saint-Paul, 1986), including feeding and growth (da Silva et al., 1984; Eckman, 1987; Merola & Pagan-Font, 1988).

C. macropomum (Figure 1) is the second largest scaled fish (after Arapaima gigas, Osteoglossidae) in the Amazon basin and reaches at least one meter in total length and 30 kg in weight. Adult tambaqui are oval-shaped fishes, being usually black ventrally and golden to olive dorsally. Tambaqui has a unique dentition, which consists of a combination of molariform-like teeth adapted for crushing nuts, on which it feeds heavily, and long and fine gillrakers that are used, especially in young fish, to capture zooplankton.

Tambaqui, was introduced into the Northeast Brazil in 1966 by the "Departamento Nacional de Obras Contra as Secas" (DNOCS). In 1977 artificial reproduction was satisfactorily achieved, and since then several studies on its performance in monoculture and polyculture have been developed (Silva, 1981; Silva *et al.*, 1984; Silva *et al.*, 1986; Silva *et al.*, 1987; Silva and Pinheiro, 1989; Melo *et al.*, 1987 and Mavignier *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 1 - Taxonomy of Tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum

Phylum Chordata Subphylum Vertebrata Class Osteichthyas Subclass Actinopterygii Order Cyprinformes Suborder Characoldei Family Characidae *Genus Colossoma macropomum*

The first cultivation trials of *C. macropomum* in Latin America began in the 1980's. In 1988 fry production in Latin American was over 9.8 million specimens annually (more than 90% in Brazil); and were mainly distributed to re-stock reservoirs and used in small to medium scale culture systems (Hernandez 1989). However, this production was considered insufficient to meet regional needs. Some of the many factors limiting the culture of tambaqui, are: scarce fry supplies, high price of compound feeds and weak extension programs for the farmers.

Considerable interest has developed in the formulation of inexpensive and

nutritionally efficient feeds for the culture of *Colossoma macropomum*. The potential use of residues and by-products from agriculture, fisheries and food industries are being considered. Several by-products from those industries contain proteins of good biological value, which have the potential to partially replace animal protein from fishmeal in fish feeds. Such substitution is of major importance in developing countries, due to the high costs and low nutritional quality of locally produced fishmeal.

It is known that fish diets contribute largely to the increase in costs in an aquaculture operation. In order to decrease these costs to aquaculture, an alternative protein source to traditional fish meal is needed. The fish meal industry needs a regular supply of fish waste to operate economically. For this reason, in the industrialized countries, fish meal is concentrated in areas were these supplies are regular. This allows the economy of scale to overcome the high costs associated with fish meal production. The problems with raw material supply, energy costs, pollution control and process control faced by the fish meal industry are not easily overcome in developing countries and so large scale fish meal production is often infeasible.

The future of the fish meal industry is not promising, because of fluctuation in the amount of raw material landed and the increasing costs of production. It is becoming extremely necessary to search for an alternative technology by which fish protein can be preserved, and thus the high quality protein source present in fish waste can be recycled. The alternative process should be inexpensive and easily adjusted to small and larce scale production.

Waste, such as fillet scrap (undersized fish and by-catch that may be generated) represents disposal problems for the fishing industry. The waste produced by this industry is commonly dumped into the sea. The biological costs are significant as is the

potential for pollution, and a waste of a valuable resource which could be utilized for the aquaculture industry. Furthermore, processing companies can increase their yield and optimize profits from trimmings that would normally be wasted.

Processing this waste into fish meal may be difficult because the supply is highly variable and fish meal plants require a relatively constant supply of raw material to operate economically. Considerable interest has developed during past few years in the preparation of a liquid fish product for animal feeds.

Ensilage was achieved on a large scale in some countries by using mineral or organic acid and by biological fermentation with lactic acid bacteria. The use of biological fermented or acid preserved silage could make a useful contribution to waste savings and nutritional improvement in low income societies.

The fish silage process requires very little capital outlay and the scale of the operation is easily adjusted to suit the supply of raw material. This makes the process particularly attractive in areas far removed from fish meal plants. Usually, wastes from these areas have to be transported, often over considerable distances, to the nearest fish meal factory. Ensilaging is also a process that is easily adaptable for use on board ships where by-catch and offal could be ensiled relative/ cheap and efficiently.

Fish is a major source of animal protein for the people in developing countries. After reviewing the literature concerning the production of fish in the state of Ceará -Brazil, it was clear that there is a need to increase the production of cultured fish in order to expand the demand for cheap protein sources. By using indigenous species, such as, tambaqui, an alternative source of protein can be made available.

The lack of research work in the field of silage utilization as a main source of protein in fish diets in the Northeast of Brazil is noticeable. Important deficiencies in our present knowledge of the process include identification of the type of silage (acid preserved or biologically fermented) that is most suitable for the species of fish cultivated in the region, and its nutritive value. The investigation described in this thesis is designed to answer some of these questions and remove deficiencies in knowledge of the process.

The study is organized into the following phases:

I) Storage study:

The objectives of this study were to identify chemical changes that occur during the liquefaction and storage of a biological fermented silage and an acid preserved silage. To test the stability of the final product by storing it at ambient temperature for 30 days and record the quality changes. The changes in the quality of the products were determined at intervals by measuring the following:

A) Proximate analysis of the products at zero time and at intervals of 2, 4, 7, 14, and 30 days.

B) Amino acid analysis at the beginning and at the end of the storage period.

C) Changes in soluble nitrogen.

D) Changes in pH of the product during storage time.

II) Feeding trials:

The objectives of these trials were to test the nutritive value of the product by incorporating it in a basal diet to be fed to tambaqui. Evaluate the growth and digestibility of crude protein of the silage in juvenile tambaqui and compare with a control diet based on fishmeal.

CHAPTER II

2.0 Literature review

2.1. Nutrient requirements of fish

All animals require protein, lipids, carbohydrates, vitamins and minerals in their diets. The type and quantity of each one of these ingredients varies between species and within each species, depending on age, productivity function and environmental conditions. As an example, the rapid growth of a juvenile fish requires a higher level of protein than an adult fish. Therefore at each phase of the growth process, each species requires a different ration to satisfy its nutritional requirements. It has been postulated that reproductive fish will have nutritional requirements that are different from those of sexually immature fish. However these requirements have not been established for the great majority of the species which are potentially important for aquacuture.

2.2. Protein and amino acid requirements of fish

Protein are essential components that play a central role in the structure and functioning of all living organisms, making up 65% to 75% of their dry matter. Animals must consume protein to maintain a continuous supply of amino acids. Proteins are digested upon absorption or hydrolyzed to liberate free amino acids which are absorbed through the animal's intestinal wall and distributed to the various organs, via the blood stream, where they are used to synthesize new proteins during growth and reproduction, or to repair tissue. Therefore if the fish is not ingesting a sufficient quantity of protein, a rapid decrease of growth or loss of weight will occur, because the animal will retrieve protein of its own body in order to maintain vital functions.

Generally, fish require a higher percentage of protein in the diet than other vertebrate animals (Cowey and Sargent, 1979; Tacon and Cowey, 1985). Moreover, it has been suggested that the efficiency of protein utilization by fish is lower than that of other animals (Rumsey, 1981).

Protein requirement and utilization by the fish itself are largely influenced by such factors as: species and fish size; physiological phase; environmental conditions, such as temperature, salinity and water quality; diet composition, especially protein quality, availability of essential amino acids, energy level and feeding rate (Garling and Wilson, 1976; Cowey and Sargent, 1979; Lovell, 1980; Steffens, 1981; NAS, 1983).

Delong et al. (1958) observed that the protein demand for young Oncorhynchus tshawytscha at a water temperature of 8 °C is about 40%. Water temperature of 14.5 °C, however, necessitates a protein content of 55% to ensure rapid growth. Analogous observations on the impact of water temperature on protein requirements for maximum growth of channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*, were suggest by Hastings (1973). Experiments have also shown that the protein requirements increased in salmonids as salinity increased. According to Zeitoun et al. (1973), for salinity of 10% and 20% the minimum protein demand of rainbow trout, was 40% and 43.5% respectively when casein and gelatin were used as a protein sources. Archdekin et al. (1988) concluded that post-juvenile chinook salmon maintained in seawater demanded a minimum of 44% protein in their diet to achieve maximum growth.

Page and Andrews (1973) reported that channel catfish with an average weight of 114-500g had a protein requirement of 25%, while fish with an average weight of 14-100g required 35% of protein in the diet.

Macedo et al. (1981), found that 22% of crude protein was satisfactory in the early fingerling stage of tambaqui (5 to 30 g) and 18% crude protein was satisfactory for the juvenile stages in rearing ponds.

Ramos and Grajales (1989) studied fingerling tambaqui, stocked in ponds at the rate of one fish per square meter and fed with diets containing 20 - 25 and 30% crude protein. They reported that the best growth performance was obtained by tambaqui fed diets containing 31.12% protein and 3800kcal/kg total energy.

Hastings (1973) found that at temperatures below 24°C, channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus, grew no better on 35% protein than on 25%, but when water temperature exceeded 24°C the fish gained more on the 30% and 35% protein diet.

Dietary protein levels of 26 to 30% have been shown to provide the best growth performance in pacu, *Piaractus mesopotamicus*, fed isocaloric diets containing 3200 kcal/kg total energy (Carneiro, 1990; Carneiro *et al.*, 1984).

Every fish requires the same ten amino acids (Cowey & Sargent, 1972), which cannot be synthesized within the body and must exist in the supplied diet. Estimates of the nutritional balance of a protein are made by comparing the amino acid balance of the ingredient with the amino acids present in fish egg protein and in chicken egg protein (Halver 1957). This nutritional balance can also be found by experimentally determining the essential amino acid requirement for some other fish species (Tacon 1987), or the relative proportion of essential amino acids in fish muscle (Tacon and Cowey 1985) and expressed as a chemical score with 100% being the values found for fish egg and chicken egg.

Wilson and Cowey (1985), analyzed the amino acid composition of rainbow trout and Atlantic Salmon tissue and found that there was no significant difference between the two species. The authors showed that amino acid composition of these tissues was also similar to that of tissue from coho salmon and channel catfish. The authors also suggested that diets for fish may be improved by formulating them to simulate the amino acid balance of the whole body tissue of the fish being studied.

2.3. Energy balance in fish

Fish requires energy for growth, activity and reproduction. The biological processes involved in the utilization of the energy is defined as metabolism. The rate at which utilization of energy occurs is called the metabolic rate. Metabolic rate in fish is affected by temperature, species, age, physiological conditions, body functions and chemical conditions of water, such as oxygen, carbon dioxide saturation, pH and salinity.

Animals use energy not only to sustain the life process but also to support physical activity. Energy is necessary in all metabolic phases. According to Phillips (1972) fish are among the most efficient animals in converting feed into body protein. The great advantage to their high energetic efficiency is that fish are aquatic ectotherms and consequently do not have to use energy in maintaining body temperature.

Fish also have a very efficient mechanism for the excretion of waste nitrogen. According to Goldstein and Forster (1970), the formation and elimination of ammonia as a nitrogenous end product has many biological advantages. There is no expenditure of

energy involved in the conversion of the nitrogen in proteins to ammonia. Since ammonia is toxic even at very low concentrations and thus must be rapidly converted to less toxic compounds (urea and uric acid) by terrestrial homeotherms. Fish excrete approximately 85% of the waste nitrogen as ammonia (Randail and Wright, 1987) while the remnant is excreted as urea, uric acid, trimethylamine oxide, creatinine and creatin (Watts and Watts, 1974). According to Goldstein and Forster (1970) fish may use two mechanisms for excreting ammonia, simple diffusion as well as an exchange component in the guils.

According to Page and Andrews (1973), an optimal dietary protein concentration for fish is determined by a delicate balance of the dietary energy to protein ratio. Excessive nonprotein energy (lipids and carbohydrates) intake resulting from high digestible energy-to-dietary protein ratios, causes appetite or demand to be satisfied before a sufficient quantity of protein is ingested to satisfy demand or maximal growth rates. Moreover, a diet with a high level of energy to protein ratio can lead to deposition of large amounts of body fat.

The utilization of part of the protein through catabolism for the supply of energy is well known when a diet is poor in energy from other sources. Fish may also utilize protein more efficiently since the energetic value of protein for fish is higher. However, it is also known that the cost of protein is higher than other energy sources such as carbohydrates and lipids. Thus, the caloric/proteic relationship is one of the items of fundamental importance for animal nutrition. The ideal is to have a diet with a proteinenergy balance in which minimum protein is used as a energy source by the fish, consequently showing higher protein efficiency (Castagnoll, 1979).

2.4. Sources of energy for fish

The three major sources of energy for animals, including fish, are carbohydrates, lipids and protein. These three components must be balanced in the diets in order that the fish can find the nutrients and energy necessary for its optimal development.

2.4.1. Protein as a dietary energy source

Generally, fish require a higher percentage of dietary protein than poultry and mammals. A possible reason for this can be that fish utilize carbohydrates less efficiently and some protein is metabolized for energy. Protein will be used for energy if insufficient energy is available from other sources, if protein is fed in excess of minimal requirements or if the protein is of poor quality. The ideal level of protein for fish is highly influenced by an optimal dietary protein to energy balance, amino acid composition and digestibility of the test protein and the amount of energy originated from the nonprotein sources in the test diet.

The protein requirements of fish are also influenced by fish size and age. According to Hilton and Slinger (1981) optimal dietary protein level for very young salmonids is 45 to 50% of their diet, while juveniles require 40% and yearlings require about 35% of dietary protein. Studies on tilapia protein requirement were developed by Balarin and Haller (1982) and the authors found that tilapia of less than 1g need 35 to 50% protein, tilapia from 1 to 5g need 30 to 40% protein , from 5 to 25g require 25 to 30% while tilapia weighing more than 25g require a level of protein around 20 to 25%.

Water temperature also plays an important role in the protein requirements of some fish. Chinook salmon were found to require 40% protein at 8°C and 55% protein

at 15°C (DeLong *et al.*, 1958). In contrast, according to the NRC (1981) no differences in protein requirements were found for rainbow trout when fed diets containing 35, 40 and 45% protein at temperatures ranging from 9° to 18°C.

2.4.2. Carbohydrate as a dietary energy source

Carbohydrates are considered the cheapest form of energy in the diet of humans and domestic animals. Carbohydrates constitute a group of the most controversial nutrients within the field of fish nutrition, especially the utilization of dietary carbohydrates by carnivorous fish such as salmonids. Carbohydrate utilization is generally poor in fish and results from a deficiency in digestive and metabolic capacity.

While carnivorous fish show little or no ability for carbohydrate assimilation, the herbivorous, omnivorous and planctophagus fish which synthesize the cellulase and amylase enzymes in their digestive tract easily hydrolyze the carbohydrates contained in natural vegetal foods or ingredients from plant origins integrated into their rations.

Carbohydrate levels ranging from 30% (Buhler and Halver, 1961) to as high as 38% (Kaushick et al., 1989) may be used efficiently by salmonids. However according to Hilton and Atckinson, 1982 and Hilton et al., 1982, digestible carbohydrate levels should not exceed 14% of the diet.

2.4.3. Lipids as a dietary energy source

Lipids are important sources of energy and the fatty acids are essential for the normal growth and survival of fish. Lipids are the vehicles for the absorption of the fat

soluble vitamins and other components such as steroids. The lipids, especially the phospholipds and the steroid esther, play an important role in cellular and subcelullar membrane structure and are also involved in many other aspects of metabolism, such as many hormones and steroids. Also, the long chains of polyunsaturated fatty acids are the precursors of prostaglandin in fish.

Lipids are an important energy source for carnivorous fish since carbohydrates are poorly utilized (Hilton and Atkinson, 1982), most likely because these fish encounter little carbohydrate in their diets (Walton and Cowey, 1982). Lipids contain over 1.5 times as much energy per unit weight relative to proteins and nearly 2.5 times as much as carbohydrates (Lehninger, 1982). An adequate level of lipids can minimize the cost of a diet by decreasing the protein level, which is a more expensive energy source (Cowey and Sargent, 1979; Watanabe, 1982).

According to Millikin (1982), the ideal lipid level to be included in a diet depends mainly on factors such as: the minimum level of lipid which will maximize the use of protein and promote a good growth rate; the possibility of obtaining a fish with low fat content for human consumption and an optimal lipid level that will not contribute to the oxidative rancidity of the diet.

Dupree (1969) working with channel catfish with an initial weight of 1.25g fed diets of 35% protein and 8% and 16% lipid (originating from equivalent parts of animal and plant fat), found that fish which received diet containing 16% fat showed a reduced growth and protein retention.

In order to evaluate the protein utilization related to lipid content, Lee and Putnan (1973) worked with fingerlings of rainbow trout with an initial weight of 4.8g, fed diets

with 35%, 44% and 53% protein, 8%, 16% and 24% lipid and a common average level of 6.5% crude fiber in all diets. The authors found that the best protein utilization was given by the fish fed diets with 24% lipid content.

Dupree et al. (1979) studied the optimum lipid level on fingerlings of channel catfish with an initial weight of 7 - 7.5g, fed diets containing 25% protein and 5%, 8%, 12% and 20% lipid. The author found that maximum growth gain and higher protein retention were showed by fish fed diets containing 12% lipid content.

Pezzato (1990) evaluated three levels of fat (8%,16% and 24%) as either plant (soybean) or animal (swine fat) origin which were supplemented to a diet containing corn, fish meal, soybean, vitamin and mineral premixes. The additional fat was added by replacing corn meal. The author reported that pacu, *Piaractus mesopotamicus*, can utilize high levels of either animal and plant fat. The higher dietary lipid intake resulted in higher body fat levels. Whole body fat content increased 38.1% and 27.6% in fish fed the higher animal and plant lipid sources, respectively.

According to Reinitz and Yu (1981), the replacement of soybean and fish oil with animal oil on diets fed to rainbow trout fingerlings, showed a positive result at the end of the 182 days long experiment. This confirmed the results obtained by Leatherland *et al.* (1979) and Cowey *et al.* (1979). These authors observed that by replacing oil from vegetal origin to animal origin, an increase in growth rate was observed with no significant changes in protein and lipid in the carcass composition. The authors also found a positive correlation between the fatty acid composition of the diet and that of the carcasses.

2.5. Digestibility measurements in fish

The nutritional value of food is based not only on its chemical composition but also by the ability of the fish to digest and absorb the nutrients. There are also considerable variations in the ingredient digestibility within the species and with different environmental conditions (Lovell, 1977).

Acquiring knowledge of the digestibility of nutrients from various feed ingredients is essential in preparing fish diets and can be done through the substitution of one ingredient by another, using an experimental and a control diet. The substitution of an expensive ingredient by a cheaper and satisfactory one can be important in the development of a minimum cost diet.

The percentage of a nutrient consumed, which did not appear in the feces, is defined as the digestion coefficient. The undigested portions of feed are excreted in the feces. By determining the amount of feed which is rejected in the feces, the digestibility of that specific feed by the animal can be calculated.

In order to conduct a digestibility experiment it is very important to determine the amount of each nutrient in both feed and feces. The earliest method used for determining digestibility coefficients for domestic animals was the direct or total collection method. This method consisted of determining the amount of protein, fat, carbohydrate, energy and total dry matter eaten, minus the amount found in the feces (Hepher, 1988). However the direct method has its drawbacks. One inconvenience is that the amount of food eaten by the fish has to be monitored and closely controlled. Since the fish are fed in water and feces are excreted into the water, nutrient leaching will occur in both food and feces. Thus the digestibility coefficient can be overestimated

according to the loss of nutrient in the water (Hepher, 1988).

The other method used to calculate digestibility is the indirect method. In this method, in addition to the chemical analysis for the usual proximate nutrients, the content in the feed and in the feces of a very indigestible reference substance is determined. The substance may be a natural constituent of the feed or be added to it, or both. The apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of the nutrient based on the indirect method is determined according to Mavnard & Lossii (1969).

ADC (%) = 100 - <u>% indicator in diet</u> x <u>% nutrient in feces</u> x 100 %indicator in feces % nutrient in diet

The equation shown above is used to calculate apparent digestibility, since feces contain nitrogen of body origin as well as undigested feed nitrogen.

Markers or indicators used in this method can be of two types; artificial foreign substances introduced into the feed, such as Cr_{Q_3} (Furukawa & Tsukahara, 1966) or substances that are a natural component of the feed itself, such as, cellulose (Buddington, 1980) and acid insoluble ash (Atkinson *et al.*, 1984; Bowen 1961; De Silva e Pereira, 1983). In either case, to be an effective marker, a substance must not be absorbed through the lumen or be toxic, move along the gut at the same velocity from the rest of the food material, and must not interfere with the digestive metabolism of the animal (De Silva, 1989).

Although nutrient leaching may still occur, the convenience of this indirect method over the direct, is that there is no need to determine the amount of food ingested nor the amount of feces egested (Maynard & Loosli, 1969). The major disadvantages of this method are in the variety of techniques used to collect the fecal samples without leaching of nutrients into the water.

Many techniques have been used to collect feces. Several authors choose to collect the feces directly from the posterior region of the intestine (Smith & Lovell, 1973; Windell et al., 1978). However, this technique requires killing the fish and using a large number of fish. Other authors have used the stripping technique (Austreng 1978; Tacon et al., 1984). Wherein the fish is anesthetized and pressure placed on the fish's abdomen. The presence of milt, ova, blood and body slime with the striped feces has been suggested as a disadvantage of this technique. Also, the need to anesthetize the fish prior to handling may induce defecation and acceleration of intestinal transit (Spyridarkis et al., 1989). Anal suction has also been used as a feces collection technique (Windell et al., 1978), but is also known to cause high levels of stress.

In order to overcome the drawbacks of the fecal collection methods shown above, many authors have collected the feces as soon as they are naturally released into the water. However, according to Windell *et al.* (1978), this can result in overestimation of the digestibility values, since nutrient leaching may occur. Several devices for the separation and recovery of feces have been proposed. They vary from a fine mesh net to more complex mechanical techniques. Among them, the "Guelph system" is suggested to minimize fish handling and nutrient losses (Cho *et al.*, 1975). The advantage of feces collection from the water column is that repeated samplings can be done and growth experiments can be monitored at the same time.

2.6. Selection of dietary ingredients for fish diets

The ingredients used in animal feeds are basically composed of natural products such as the majority of by-products of the milling industry.

In the daily processing of diet formulation, ingredients are generally substituted for one another depending on the local market price. Fish meal is a product commonly used as the major protein source in formulated fish diets. The variable supply and quality of fish meal, and especially its high cost have been identified as the primary drawback of using it in fish feeds (Higgs et al., 1982). It is predicted that alternatives to traditional fish meal will be needed in fish feeds in the near future (Hardy & Masumoto, 1990). By the early years of the 21st century the use of fish meal by the aquaculture industry is expected to double while world production is expected to replace fish meal, gardially. (For the all with other animal or plant protein sources.

Waste (fillet scrap, undersized fish, and by-catch) that may be generated represents a disposal problem to the fishing industry and at the same time represents a potential resource to the animal feed industry. Processing this waste into fish meal may be difficult because the supply is highly variable and fish meal plants require a relatively constant supply of raw material to operate economically. Ensilaging is an inexpensive way to store the raw material until it can be processed into a useful by-product (Hardy et al. 1983).

2.7. Fish silage

Fish silage is a liquefied product made from whole or parts of fish to which only an acid has been added, and in which liquefaction of the fish mass is carried out by enzymes already present in the fish (Tatterson and Windsor, 1974).

Historically, the practice of using acids for preservation was first explored in the 1920s in Finland by A.I. Virtanen who used mixtures of hydrochloric and sulphuric acid to preserve green fodder (Tatterson and Windsor, 1974). In 1936, in Sweden, Professor Edin used a similar acid mixture to liquefy and preserve fish and fish waste. In 1940 Edin quantified and calculated the acid requirements based on the pH, protein and ash measurements for minced fish (Tatterson and Windsor, 1974). Production of fish silage on a commercial scale started in Denmark in 1948. Tatterson and Wigall (1976) mentioned that Denmark produced between 50,000 and 100,000 metric tons of fish silage per year.

Generally one of two processes are employed in the production of fish silage, namely acid preservation or lactic acid fermentation. Acid preservation is accomplished by adding enough acid to minced fish or fish offal to lower the pH to a point in which the silage is stable to bacterial degradation. For production of lactic acid fermented silage also known as biologically fermented silage, bacterial fermentation is initiated by the addition of lactic acid bacteria and fermentable carbohydrates to minced fish. The carbohydrate source will then be progressively converted to acid, which lowers the pH of the silage and ultimately imparts spoilage resistance to the final liquid product. This procedure is preferred in developing countries because it is cheaper to do, involves simple technology that is adaptable to the cottage level, and the product has good storage properties (Dono et al., 1993).

2.7.1. Fish silage by acid preservation

Acid preserved silage is produced by adding an organic or inorganic acid to the minced fish. The principle involved in this technique is that the enzymes already present in the fish break down the protein and liquefy the fish while the acid prevents microbial spoilage.

A number of acids have been used to produce fish silage. Organic acids are more expensive than inorganic. A mixture of inorganic and organic acid, using the cheap inorganic acid to lower the pH sufficiently for the organic acid to become antimicrobial was recommended by Raa & Gildberg, 1982.

Disney and Hoffmans (1976) combined formic and sulphuric acid to decrease the pH and increase the bacterial activity. Rattagol *et al.* (1979) using the same combination of the two acids above mentioned, reported that sulphuric acid is not only cheaper than formic acid but may also cause less damage to vitamin B_{r_i} in the diet.

Gildberg and Raa (1977) found that a silage produced by a combination of propionic acid and formic acid was more resistant to microbial deterioration even with moist mixtures containing straw meal.

The use of formic acid alone is particularly suitable, even though it is more expensive than inorganic acids. Formic acid does not require neutralization before feeding to animals. Corrosion of equipment and containers is also considerably reduced. It is noticed that when formic acid is used, a pH of 4 is sufficient to produce a stable product because of its antibacterial action. Formic acid is currently preferred as a preservative and extensive research has been done using this acid (Espe *et al.*, 1990;

Haaland and Njaa, 1990; Haaland et al., 1990; and Nicholson and Johnson, 1991).

2.7.2. Fish silage by biological fermentation

The principle in the ensiling process by biological fermentation is to add fermentable carbohydrate to the fish offal where the lactic acid produced preserves the product. Even though fish contain a natural flora of lactic acid bacteria, a starter culture can also be added which rapidly converts the sugar to acid and preserves the whole mass. Lindgren and Clevstrom (1978) reported that in addition to the acid, some lactic acid bacteria produce antibiotics which contribute to their preservative action. Twiddy *et al.* (1987) verified that common food pathogens *Staphylococcus aureus, Salmonella typhimurium, Clostridium sporogenes* and *Escherichia colii* rapidly disappear during fermentation.

It is generally acknowledged that biological fermentation of fish silage started in Scandinavia. Petersen (1953) described two methods for producing fermented fish silage. Sulphuric acid and molasses were used in the first method whereas the second method involved the utilization of molasses and lactic acid bacteria.

Nilsson and Rydin (1965) proposed that fish can be fermented along with cereal meal as a starch source and malt meal as an amylase source. A mixture of small Baltic herring with 20% barley meal and 2% malt meal, ensiled at 28[°]C for 4 weeks, yielded a silage at pH 4.3 containing 5% acid as lactic acid. Staton and Yeoh (1977) studied the substitution of Malaysian ingredients namely tapicca starch instead of cereal, and ragi (a mixed culture of amylotic moulds grown on rice) instead of malt. They found that in the absence of salt, it was necessary to use fish:tapicca ratios of 3.2 or less to obtain

satisfactory results.

Dong et al. (1993) evaluated the suitability of converting salmon viscera into a co-dried product which could consequently be the major protein ingredient for salmonid diets. Silages were prepared by adding a dry culture of *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Streptococcus faecium*, and alternatively by the addition of an organic acid or sulphuric acid. According to the authors, there were many advantages gained by using bacteria rather than acid to prepare fish silage. The bacteria were easy to maintain and to reproduce, thus the cost of purchasing acid was eliminated. Another advantage was that the handling of acid was avoided. The lactic acid procedure also allowed preparation of silage with a low level of moisture, which would have had to be evaporated later in the drying process.

Although lactic acid bacteria are natural inhabitants of fish, they are present in low numbers: $10^{2} - 10^{4}$ /g. Fish also contain only small amounts of free sugar, which is the essential substrate for growth of such bacteria (Mackie, 1971; Raa *et al.* 1983). Therefore, to preserve fish or animal waste products by fermentation, it is essential to add a sugar source and a starter culture of suitable lactic acid bacteria. Both spoilage bacteria and lactic acid bacteria will contribute to the initial acid production, since the conditions are anaerobic and sugars are available. However, growth of the lactic acid bacteria will be favored as the silage becomes more acidic. If the pH falls below 4 in such a silage, lactobacilii will become the predominant organism and harmful bacteria such as coliforms, enterococci and even *Clostridium botulinum* spores will be destroyed (Raa *et al.*, 1983).

Kompiang et al. (1980) investigated the preparation of biological silage using molasses as a carbohydrate source to study the ratio of fish to molasses. The results
showed that silage prepared with a fish:molasses ratio of 100:15 had a fresh, strong acidic smell up to 21 days of storage.

Lindgren and Pleje (1983) investigated silage storage stability related to temperature and the use of antifungal additives. Storage stability at 5°C, 12°C and 24°C was studied in fish silage after an initial fermentation period of four days at 20 - 24°C. It was found that during storage at 12°C and 24°C, lactic acid was produced at a level around 40 g kg⁻¹. A pH below 4 was obtained within 30 h at 24°C, At 5°C, a production of lactic acid to 37.5 g kg⁻¹ was observed after 33 days, but the content declined to 32.5 g kg⁻¹ after 54 days of storage. The pH increased slightly, independently of storage temperature and additives. After 33 days, no difference was observed for the nine treatments (*i.e.* stored at 5°C, 12°C and 24°C, with added propionic acid, sorbic acid and a control). After 54 days of storage, ta gave temperature of 24°C, the pH was 4.7. The samples stored at 5°C and 12°C had pH values around 4.8 after 54 days of storage temperature of 24°C, the 3°C and 3°C and 3°C and 3°C and 4.8 after 54 days of storage.

Twiddy et al. (1987) evaluated the use of rice cassava as a carbohydrate source with and without a one day pre-fermentation prior to mixing with the minced fish. Also, different fish/carbohydrate proportions were studied in the range of 20 - 100% w/w of minced fish. The authors found that the use of pre-fermented cassava (20% w/w) resulted in rapid fermentation. The pH declined to less than 4.5. The ratio of lactic acid bacteria/spoilage bacteria exceeded four log cycles of growth within 48 h. The use of added sugar (2% w/w glucose) was found to be necessary to prevent an undesirable pH increase after the first 2 days of fermentation.

Martin and Bemister (1994) evaluated the use of peat extract as a carbohydrate source for the fermentation of lactic acid bacteria in fish offal silage. The authors also compared the use of formic acid with peat extract as an acid source for the ensiling process. The effects of pre-heating and pre-freezing the raw material prior to ensiling were also investigated. The authors found that peat extract was an effective carbohydrate source for fermentation of fish offal, but that it was inadequate as an acid source for fish offal silage. The authors concluded that fermentation by lactic acid bacteria was the most efficient method of ensiling with either peat extract or glucose as the carbohydrate source. Also, heating or freezing the raw material prior to ensiling was found to have no effect on the preservation effectiveness.

2.8. Nutritive value of silage and its use

Fish silage has been used in animal feed with varying success, depending upon the animal species, the type of acid used (in the case of acid-preserved silage), and the method of processing. In some cases the animals grew poorly on fish silage diets. Reduced nutritional value due to high level of hydrolyzed protein has been suggested as a cause of this (Hardy et al., 1983; Wood et al., 1985; Stone and Hardy, 1986).

During liquefaction, connective protein tissues are broken down by the enzymes in the fish. The enzymes of importance in the silage are proteinases that break down proteins into peptides and individual amino acids, as well as lipases that break down fats into free fatty acids (Jangaard, 1987). During liquefaction, the majority of proteins are converted to short peptides, a portion of which may be further hydrolyzed to free amino acids. When autolysis is allowed to continue, the percentage of nitrogen as free amino acids increases while the percentage as polypeptides decreases. Nevertheless.

there is always a portion of the protein that is not broken down by enzymes.

Hardy et al. (1983) found that the length of storage of fish silage influence its nutritional value for trout, and suggested that the total replacement of fish meal by fish silage should not be employed if the liquefied fish silage was stored for a long period before being dried and used in trout diets. However, by heating the silage, the liquefaction process is discontinued, and a higher quantity of silage can be used in the diets without affecting fish growth or nutrient utilization (Gildberg et al. 1984; Fagbenro and Jauncey, 1993a). In practical terms, the reaction can be stopped much earlier than the point of maximum protein solubility and still yield a liquid product.

Wee et al. (1986) investigated the utilization of fish silage preserved either by acid or lactic acid bacteria. The biological fermented silage was formulated using *Lactobacillus casei*, cassava or molasses as the carbohydrate source, and with or without the antioxidant butylated hydroxytoluene. The silages were stored for 12 weeks and their nutritional and chemical characteristics were studied. The authors found that the proximate composition of the silage did not change with the storage period. Diets for catfish, *Clarias batrachus*, were formulated, and a control diet based on fish meal was used as a comparison. The fish grew well with all diets.

Fagberro and Jauncey (1993a) investigated the nutritional value of co-dried fermented tilapia silage as a dietary protein supplement for catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*, in digestibility experiments. They found that a storage period of 180 days resulted in an increase in non-protein nitrogen content and a slight increase in free fatty acids content. However, this seems to have had an insignificant effect on the apparent protein digestibility by catfish of co-dried tilapia silage diets. The results showed that fermented tilapia silae proved to have good storage properties.

Extensive research has also confirmed that fish silage is a useful protein source for swine (Green *et al.*, 1988), poultry (Krogdahl, 1985 and Ologhobo *et al.*, 1988), cattle (Nicholson and Johnson, 1991) and fish (Wood *et al.*, 1985; Wee *et al.*, 1986; Rungruangsak and Uthe, 1992; Fagbenro and Jauncey, 1993a, 1994; Heras *et al.*, 1994 and Ali *et al.*, 1994).

CHAPTER III

3.0 Material and methods

3.1. Silage preparation

Mixed sex tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, culled as a result of routine husbandry techniques, were obtained at the Rodolph Von Ihering Ictiological Research Center in Pentecoste, Ceará, Brazil. The fish were kept frozen (-20[°]C) and latter thawed at room temperature before use. Thawed whole tilapias were minced and passed through a die with 0.5 cm diameter holes using a Siemsem mill model PSL 291. Three samples were obtained for chemical analyses.

Acidification of silages was accomplished by two methods: by addition of lactic acid bacteria and subsequent fermentation (bacterial fermented silage) and by addition of formic acid (formic acid silage).

Biologically fermented silage, which was labeled silage BFS, was prepared by adding to the minced tilapia: 5% *Lactobacillus plantarum* ATCC 8014, 15% molasses, as a carbohydrate source, and 1% potassium sorbate to inhibit the growth of mould. *Lactobacillus plantarum* (ATCC 8014) was previously cultivated in MRS broth (Man Rogosa Sharpe) for 48 hours before the preparation of the silage and incubated for 24 hours at 30[°]C (Lamas *et al.*, 1992).

Formic acid silage, which was labeled silage FAS, was prepared by adding to the minced tilapia 3% (w/w) of formic acid (85%), and 1% of potassium sorbate to prevent mould growth.

Three batches of both silages were mixed in 20-1 plastic buckets (12 kg/bucket), loosely covered with plastic lids and incubated at room temperature (28 - 32° C). The silages were stirred daily with a wooden paddle by hand for approximately 1 minute.

3.2. Analytical Methods

Samples from each batch were heated in a water bath for 30 minutes in 90°C to cease autolysis. The samples were taken for chemical analysis at the beginning of the experiment (minced tilapia) and after 2,4,7,14 and 30 days. Silages stored for 4 and 30 days from both, biological fermented silage (BFS) and formic acid silages (FAS), were subsequently co-dried with wheat bran, sun dried for approximately 20 hours in steel trays 1 cm in depth and then used in the feeding trial.

3.2.1. pH

The pH of the minced fish waste and of the silages were determined with a portable digital pH meter (DIGI-SENSE Model 5038-10) by inserting the pH probe into the plastic buckets containing well mixed samples of material.

3.2.2. Moisture Content

Moisture content was determined by oven-drying at 105° C to constant weight (A.O.A.C., 1990, Method 950.01).

3.2.3. Ash Content

Ash content was determined from weighed samples in a porcelain crucible by heating the dried sample in a muffle furnace at 550°C (A.O.A.C., 1990, Method 938.08).

3.2.4. Lipid Content

Crude lipid was determined after Soxhlet extraction of dried samples with petroleum ether (A.O.A.C., 1990).

3.2.5. Total Nitrogen

Total Nitrogen was determined using the Kjeldahl method described by A.O.A.C., 1990, Method 955.04. The content of crude protein in samples was calculated by multiplying the percentage of nitrogen by 6.25.

3.2.6. Soluble protein

Non-protein nitrogen was determined as the percent fraction of the total Kjeldahl nitrogen that was not precipitated in a 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) solution. Non-protein nitrogen was determined as follows: to 50g of sample, 100 mL of 10% trichloroacetic acid solution was added and blended for 1 hour at 20°C using a commercial Waring blender. After homogenization, the insoluble residue was removed by centrifugation at 2000 x g for 15 minutes at 5°C. The supernatant was collected and an aliquot of 10 ml was taken for determination of soluble nitrogen using the Kjeldahl method.

3.2.7. Amino acids analysis

Formic acid and biologically fermented silages stored for 4 and 30 days were used as ingredients for the formulation of the diets used during the growth and digestibility trials. Total amino acids and free amino acids analyses were performed only on the silages cited above.

3.2.7.1. Total amino acids

Amino acid analysis was performed using a 121 MB Amino Acid Analyzer (Beckman Instruments Inc, Palo Alto, CA), on the sun-dried fish silage samples. The samples were digested in 6N HCI under vacuum at 110°C (Blackburn, 1978). The analyzer was interfaced with a model HP 3395 integrator (Hewlett-Packard, Boise, Idaho) enabling accurate peak area analysis in the nanomole range.

The sulphur-containing amino acids, methionine and cysteine, were measured separately as methionine sulphone and cysteic acid, after perfomic acid oxidation and 6N HCI hydrohysis as described by Blackburn (1978).

Tryptophan was determined by UV absorption after hydrolysis with 3N mercaptoethanesulfonic acid at 110°C according to the method of Penke *et al.*, (1974).

3.2.7.2. Free amino acids and ammonia

Free amino acids and ammonia were determined according to Stone and Hardy (1989) using a Beckman Amino Acid Analyzer Model 121 MB after extracting with 4% sulphosalicylic acid (SSA) and filtering through a 0.45mm filter (excluded MW > 500).

3.3. Growth and digestibility trials

3.3.1. Preparation of diets

Five isocaloric and isonitrogenous diets were formulated using both silages (biological fermented and formic acid) with 4 and 30 days of storage and a control diet containing fish meal as the main protein source.

The diets were calculated using the LINDO (Linear Interactive and Discrete Optimizer, 1987) computer program. The diets were denominated as follows: Diet 1 (FAS4) - using formic acid silage with 4 days of storage as the main source of protein; Diet 2 (FAS30) - using formic acid silage with 30 days of storage as the main source of protein; Diet 3 (BFS4) - using biological fermented silage with 4 days of storage as the main source of protein; Diet 4 (BFS30) - using biological fermented silage with 30 days of storage as the main source of protein; and Diet 5 (control) - using fish meal as the main source of protein.

The liquefied silages used in the diet preparation were made into a dry product by mixing with wheat bran in the ratio of 3:1 (silage:wheat bran, w/w) and then sun-dried in steel trays with 1 cm of depth. All foodstuffs with the exception of the silages were obtained commercially. Chromic oxide (Cr_2O_3) was ground in a mortar and pestle until all lumps had disintegrated and then it was combined with the ingredients. Vitamin and mineral pre-mixes were added to all 5 diets and tapica starch was used as a binder. The diets were prepared by mixing the ingredients homogeneously. Distilled water was slowly added while mixing until a sticky pulp was obtained. Mixed feeds were then passed in a household meat mincer with a 2mm diameter and then dried for 24 hours at 50° C in a drying oven. In order to obtain pellets the dried diet was chopped manually. All diets were kept in plastic containers in a refrigerator throughout the experiment.

Chemical analysis of the diets were performed as described in section 3.2.

3.3.2. Experimental design

Growth and digestibility trials were conducted at the Rodolph Von Ihering Icthiological Research Center in Pentecoste, Ceara, Brazil. The trial started March 1st, 1995 and lasted 90 days. Fifteen circular cement tanks, each measuring 140 cm in diameter, with a volume of 650 I each and constant water exchange at a rate of 6 //minutes were used in the experiment (Figure 2).



Figure 2 - Cement tanks used during growth trial.

Juvenile tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, were obtained in February, 1995 from the Research Center. Fifteen days prior to the beginning of the experiment, the fish were selected randomly and placed on an absorbent cloth to remove excess moisture, and individually weighed. At the end of a one-week acclimation period, all fish were removed from the tanks and re-weighed. Each tank was stocked with 15 fish. The tanks were randomly arranged into 5 treatments with three replications.

3.3.3. Growth trial

The fish were fed in two equal portions twice daily (0800 and 1600 hours) at a rate of 3% of fish body weight. Every 2 weeks the fish were removed and measurements of weight and length were performed. The fish length was determined by using an ictiometer rule and the weight recorded by using a commercial scale. Daily feed allowances were adjusted biweekly after weight determination, and recalculated as a percentage of the mean dry weight during every two week interval, taking into account any mortalities (Silva *et al.*, 1984; Silva *et al.*, 1987; Hancz, 1993).

After weighing the fish, each tank was cleaned to prevent accumulation of fecal materials and to reduce algae growth to a minimum. The same source and amount of water were used to refill each tank before the weighed fish were returned to their respective tanks. Water quality of the tanks were monitored once a week using an automatic water quality meter (grant/YSI 3800 Water Quality logging system; YSI inc, Yellow Springs, OH.)

Specific growth rate (SGR), average daily weight gain (ADG), protein efficiency ratio (PER) and feed conversion ratio (FCR) were calculated according to Tacon (1987). At the end of the 90 days growth trial, the final weight of the fish in each tank was measured, and the overall weight gain and survival rate determined.

Specific Growth Rate (SGR)

SGR= [(In final body weight - In initial body weight)] X 100

time period (in days)

Average Daily Weight Gain (ADG)

ADG = Final weight - initial weight / time period (in days)

Protein Efficiency Ratio (PER) PER = weight gain (g) / protein fed (g)

Feed Conversion Ratio (FCR) FCR = Feed fed (g) / weight gain (g)

3.3.4. Digestibility trial

Fish were acclimated in 15 aerated 110 l aquaria. A three-day starvation period was imposed prior to experimental feeding to assure empty alimentary canals. Each aquarium was stocked with 5 juvenile fish. The water was partially changed twice a week. After each feeding, the excess feed was removed and the bottom of the tank siphoned to flush out any uneaten food that had sunk to the bottom of the aquarium.

3.3.4.1. Fecal collection procedure

Feces were collected from the bottom of all fifteen aquaria twice daily (0730 hours and 1530 hours) over a period of four weeks. Feeding begun immediately after each collection. The fecal collection times (morning and afternoon) were kept together. The collected feces were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 30 minutes at approximately 5°C and the supernatant discarded. They were then stored at -40°C and subsequently freeze dried using a System Freezer Drier (Labconco, LYPH LOCK 6).

3.3.4.2. Chromic Oxide determination

Chromic oxide (Cr_2O_3) is commonly used as a reference substance in digestibility experiments. Chromic oxide was determined using the wet-acid digestion technique of Furukawa and Tsukuhara (1966). A mother-solution containing 10 mg of Cr_2O_3 in 100 ml of distilled water was diluted in different standard concentrations from 0.5 to 4.0 mg in 100 ml, in intervals of 0.5 mg each. A standard curve relating the absorbance readings with those of the solutions whose concentrations were previously known was determined. Using the method of orthogonal polynomials, a linear equation was developed which allowed the determination of Chromic oxide in the feces using an spectrophotometer (Spectronic 88, Bausch & Lomb), which read optical density at 350m.

3.3.4.3. Apparent protein digestibility

Apparent protein digestibility (APD), based on the indirect method, was determined according to the following formula (Maynard and Loosli, 1969).

ADC (%) = 100 - <u>% indicator in diet</u> x <u>% nutrient in feces</u> x 100 % indicator in feces % nutrient in diet

3.4 Proximate analysis of fish carcass

At the beginning and at the end of the feeding trial, several fish (10 fish/tank) were sacrificed, homogenized in a blender and frozen (-20°C) for further analyses of moisture, protein, lipid and ash, as described in section 3.2.

3.5. Statistical analysis

Data on weight gain, SGR, AFCR, PER and APD for each treatment were analyzed by one way ANOVA (p = 0.05). The mean values were compared between diets according to t test for paired comparisons. Correlation analyses was also used to measure the relationship between the storage days and the amount of amino acids of the silaces.

CHAPTER IV

4.0 Results and Discussion

4.1. Nutritional and storage characteristics of fish silage

4.1.1. pH

The evolution of pH values for both silages is shown in Figure 3. At the beginning of the experiment the pH (an indicator of the ensiling process) of minced tilapia, acid silage and biological silage were 6.5, 3.8 and 5.8, respectively. At the end of the first week the pH of the formic acid silage and the biological fermented silage decreased to 3.6 and 4.0, respectively, and remained constant until the end of the 30 days storage.

4.1.2. Proximate composition of fish silage

4.1.2.1. Protein content

The crude protein content of formic acid silage was 14.78% (wet weight basis) while the biological fermented silage contained 12.72% (Table 1). A lower value in the protein content of the biological fermented silage was also reported by James *et al.*, (1976); Fagbenro and Jauncey (1993b), Batista (1987) and Wee *et al.*, (1986). According to Batista (1987) the lower protein content in the biological fermented silage was due to the addition of carbohydrate and slight dilution effect by the acid produced.



Figure 3 - pH of the tilapia silage during fermentation at 30° C

4.1.2.2. Moisture content

Moisture content in the biological fermented silage was lower than in the minced tilapia and in the formic acid silage (Table 1). An increase in dry matter in the biological fermented silage was also reported by Jackson *et al.* (1984); Wee *et al.* (1986); Espe *et al.* (1989) and Fagbenro & Jauncey (1993b). Espe *et al.* (1989) and Fagbenro & Jauncey (1993b). Espe *et al.* (1989) good that biding of water during proteolysis might be responsible. According to Dong *et al.* (1993), by preparing a silage using a lactic acid bacteria a low level of moisture in a final product is obtained: Thus it is an advantage to use the lactic acid bacteria procedure since the excess moisture would have to be evaporated during the drying process.

4.1.2.3. Lipid content

The lipid content of both silages were higher than in the minced fish (Table 1). Similar results were found by Fagbenro & Jauncey (1993b) who reported an increase in the lipid content of the lactic acid fermented silage. According to these authors this increase in lipid can be due to the fact that lactic acid is soluble in ether and therefore extractable with ether during lipid determination. In contrast, Wee *et al.* (1986) reported that lipid contents of both acid and biological fermented silages were similar to the minced tilapia.

Figure 4 presents the composition of minced tilapia and finished fish silage prepared by biological fermentation using molasses as the carbohydrate source, and that of silage prepared using formic acid.

Table 1- Proximate analyses of minced tilapia and tilapia silage during storage for 30 days at 30°C (all values represent means of three replicates).

	Minced Tilapia	Formic Acid Silage					Biological Fermented Silage					
Storage days		2	4	7	14	30	2	4	7	14	30	
Moisture	73.10	72.80	72.20	72.45	72.23	72.00	67.74	67.69	68.22	68.88	68.70	
Protein	16.19	14.38	14.70	14.18	14.22	14.78	12.03	12.96	12.82	12.71	12.72	
Lipid	2.24	2.86	2.96	3.33	3.82	3.64	2.67	3.30	3.57	3.95	5.25	
Ash	6.91	6.60	6.13	6.62	6.44	6.61	5.40	5.81	5.87	4.70	5.30	
NFE*	1.56	3.36	4.01	3.42	3.29	2.97	12.16	10.24	9.52	9.76	8.03	
pH	6.50	3.80	3.70	3.60	3.60	3.60	4.60	4.10	4.00	4.00	4.00	

*NFE = 100 - (% moisture + % crude protein + % crude lipid + % ash)



Figure 4- Composition of tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, minced and ensiled by acid and biological methods stored for 30 days

4.1.3. Changes in the Protein fraction during fermentation of tilapia

4.1.3.1. Soluble protein

During the ensiling process, the protein is broken down by enzymes and the nitrogen in the silage becomes more soluble. The rates of formation of non-protein nitrogen for the formic acid silage and for the bacterial fermented silage are shown in Figure 5. The soluble nitrogen is plotted as a percentage of total nitrogen, and in the freshly prepared formic acid silage amounted to approximately 17%. At the end of the 30 days storage about 82% of the protein became soluble in the formic acid silage. Similar results were found by Windsor (1973); Backhoff (1976); Gildberg (1982); Tatterson (1982); Stone et al. (1989); Espe et al. (1992); Alwan et al. (1993) and Lo et al. (1993). The bacterial fermented silage had approximately 16% of protein as soluble protein at the beginning of the experiment. At the end of the storage period this value increased to 53%. A low value of soluble protein in the biological fermented silage was also reported by James et al. (1976); Raa et al. (1983); Batista et al. (1987) and Fagbenro & Jauncey (1995). According to James et al. (1976) partial preservation by the lactic acid production is the reason for the lower level of protein solubilization in the biological fermented silage. Raa et al. (1983) suggested that this low value of soluble nitrogen in biological fermented fish silage can be attributed to the adsorption of enzymes by molasses.

The increase in soluble nitrogen was associated with a change in consistency. The silage became more liquefied as storage time proceeded. A relationship was observed between the percentage soluble nitrogen and the consistency of the minced fish mass. The greater the amount of soluble nitrogen present in the mass the more liquid it became.



Figure 5- Soluble nitrogen (g/100g N) of the tilapia silage during fermentation at 30°C

4.1.3.2 Total amino acids

When autolysis occurs in fish silage, the percentage of nitrogen as free amino acids increases while the percentage of nitrogen as polypeptides decreases. According to Mathews (1972), high levels of free amino acids in the diet interfere with the mechanism for both amino acid and peptide absorption. The explanation may be that absorption of amino acids is faster when a hydrolyzed protein is ingested and that the influx of amino acids exceeds the capacity of the liver to synthesize proteins. While small-scale deamination of the amino acids is imminent and may not affect the nutritive value of the silage, heavy losses in one or a few essential amino acids will substantially change the composition of the silage and compromise its nutritional value.

Total amino acid composition in tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, minoed and ensiled by acid and biological methods are shown in Table 2. The correlation between the storage days and the amount of amino acids was determined. At the end of 30 days storage, the formic acid silage showed a slight decrease in the amount of arginine, aspartic acid, histidine, isoleucine, lysine, proline, threonine and tryptophan, while the biological fermented silage showed a decrease in isoleucine, serine, proline and tyrosine (Appendix I).

Although the loss of tryptophan is known to be one of the most serious effects of long term storage of silage (Backhoff, 1976; Kompiang et al., 1980), in the present study, this decrease was not significant in either silage (Appendix I). The tryptophan levels observed showed that a loss of 41.98% and 49.62% of tryptophan occurred in the formic acid silage with 4 and 30 days of storage respectively. For the bacterial fermented silage those values were 9.92% and 16.03% respectively for silages with 4 and 30 days of storage. Jackson et al. (1984) reported a loss of 43.6% tryptophan in a 3% (w/w) acid

silage (1.5% sulphuric/1.5% formic acid combination) stored at 20°C for 8 weeks. Van Wyk and Heydenrych (1985) found a loss of approximately 58% in the tryptophan level of formic acid silage stored for one month at pH 3.69, while the tryptophan loss in the naturally fermented silage was around 13% when the silage was stored for one month at pH 4.09. Wessels *et al.* (1980) also reported a similar trend of higher tryptophan levels in fermented silage as compared to acid treated silages. Backhoff (1976) demonstrated that in herring silage (pH 3.7) there was a rapid loss of tryptophan when stored at 30°C, amounting to approximately 45% after 6 weeks, but after 3 years at room temperature the loss amounted to 50%. Since tryptophan is labile in acid conditions when present in the free form, a higher loss of tryptophan in the formic acid silage could be associated with the lower pH achieved and a higher level of protein solubilisation, which indicates protein breakdown leading to release of amino acids and other metabolites originating from protein.

The results obtained in the ratio between essential and nonessential amino acid and percentage of essential amino acids which are nutritive parameters calculated on the basis of the amino acid composition, show that the amino acid composition in all silages are similar to the minced fish thus, indicating that the amino acids appeared to be very stable in the silages.

	Minced tilapia	st. dev. ^c	Formic acid silage	st. dev.	Formic acid silage	st. dev.	Biological fermented silage	st. dev.	Biological fermented silage	st. dev.
Storage days			4 days		30 days		4 days		30 days	
Alanine	6.33	0.02	6.21	0.02	6.58	0.02	6.04	0.02	6.28	0.02
Arginine*	6 58	0.02	6.40	0.02	6 10	0.02	6.13	0.02	6.93	0.02
Aspartic acid	8 21	0.02	8 14	0.02	7 99	0.02	8 31	0.02	8 73	0.02
Cysteine	0.91	0.02	1 17	0.02	1 32	0.02	1.01	0.02	0.99	0.02
Glutamic acid	14 04	0.03	14 56	0.03	14 40	0.02	14 14	0.03	14 52	0.02
Glycine	6.83	0.03	6.49	0.02	6.54	0.02	6 45	0.03	6.72	0.01
Histidine*	2 20	0.02	2.08	0.03	2.00	0.02	2 17	0.02	2.26	0.02
Isoleucine*	4.78	0.01	4.75	0.02	4.58	0.02	4.58	0.02	4.51	0.02
Leucine*	8.33	0.02	8.26	0.02	8.29	0.02	8 18	0.02	8.21	0.02
Lysine*	8.85	0.02	8.61	0.02	8.37	0.02	8.03	0.03	8.00	0.02
Methionine*	2.53	0.02	2.40	0.02	2.41	0.02	2.16	0.02	2.51	0.02
Phenylalanine*	3.42	0.02	3.30	0.02	3.39	0.02	3.14	0.02	3.11	0.02
Proline	4.59	0.02	4.39	0.02	4.18	0.02	4.39	0.02	4.01	0.02
Serine	3.81	0.02	3.61	0.02	3.64	0.02	2.78	0.02	2.67	0.02
Threonine*	4.80	0.02	4.62	0.02	4.49	0.02	4.67	0.02	4.72	0.02
Tryptophan*	1.32	0.02	0.76	0.02	0.66	0.02	1.18	0.03	1.10	0.02
Tyrosine	3.05	0.02	2.79	0.02	2.84	0.02	3.01	0.02	2.51	0.02
Valine*	4.09	0.03	4.01	0.02	4.00	0.02	3.87	0.02	3.97	0.02
Total	94.60		92.47		91.69		90.18		91.67	
EAA/NE ^a	0.98		0.95		0.93		0.95		0.97	
EAA/TAA ^b	49.57		48.86		48.30		48.91		49.43	

Table 2 - Total amino acid composition (g/100g protein) in tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, minced and ensiled by acid and biological methods (all values represent means of two replicates)

* Essential Amino Acids

^aEAA/NE = Ratio between essential and nonessential amino acids

^b EAA/TAA = (Essential Amino Acid/Total Amino Acid) x 100

^c Standard deviation

4.1.3.3. Free amino acids

Free amino acid increased in both silages throughout the storage period (Table 3). A correlation statistical test was employed to check any loses in free amino acid of the silages compared to the minced tilapia. The amino acids breakdown, in both silages, occurred in an almost linear relationship, with Tyrosine being the least linear among all amino acids (Appendix II). A higher level of free amino acid in the formic acid silage (Figure 6) compared to the biological fermented silage (Figure 8) was observed. In the present study, at the end of the 30 day fermentation, 22.84% of the nitrogen was in the free amino acid form in the biological fermented silage compared to 27.48% in the formic acid silage. As suggested by Raghunath and McCurdy (1990) the differences in pH achieved in the biological fermented silage and in the acid preserved silage probably affect the type and rate of enzymatic activity. Dong *et al.* (1993) also reports that a 14 day old sulfuric acid silage ha ginker percentage of lower molecular weight peptides and free amino acids when compared to a lactic acid silage.

During silage storage, soluble protein degraded to peptides and amino acids, and amino acids decomposition manifests as ammonia formation. Ammonia content was found to be higher in the biological fermented silage compared to the formic acid silage. An ammonia level of 2.3% was found for the formic acid silage (Figure 6), compared to a level of 11.7 % on the biological fermented silage (Figure 7), both stored for 30 days. The same results were reported by Nilsson and Rydin (1965) and by Batista (1987) who found that when autolysis was allowed to continue, the production of ammonia was higher in fermented fish silage than in acid silage resulting from a degradation of free amino acids. Kompiang *et al.* (1979) found that the ammonia in biological fermented silage was much higher (1-16%) compared to acid preserved silage (1.3-1.8%). According to the author;

the difference between biological and acid preserved silage on the ammonia content might be, at least partly, due to the different methods of storage. The biological fermented silage is usually stored in a closed container, thus the ammonia produced has difficulty escaping, whilst the acid preserved silage is stored in an open or slightly closed container. In the present study, both silages were stored in plastic buckets loosely covered with plastic lids and incubated at room temperature (30°C).

4.1.3.4. Protein autolysis in tilapia silage

The Nitrogen peptide was determined according to Stone and Hardy (1986) by subtracting free amino acid and ammonia nitrogen from the TCA soluble NPN. The autolysis of protein to TCA soluble peptides, amino acids and ammonia was reported as the percentage of each fraction to total Kjeldah nitrogen. According to Backhoff (1976) The amount of nitrogen from other sources is relatively low and thus, too small to cause errors in these values. As the percent of free amino acids increased in both tilapia silages the percent of nitrogen as polypeptides decreased (Figure 6 and 7). The majority of proteins were converted to peptides a portion of which were further hydrolyzed to free amino acids.

	Minced Tilapia	st. dev. ^c	Formic Acid Silage	st. dev.	Formic acid silage	st. dev.	Biological fermented silage	st. dev.	Biological fermented silage	st. dev.
Storage days			4 days		30 days		4 days		30 days	
Alonino Acid	0.16	0.02	0.62	0.02	2.20	0.02	0.21	0.02	1.04	0.02
Arginine*	0.10	0.02	0.03	0.02	2.30	0.02	0.31	0.02	0.77	0.02
Arginine	0.02	0.01	0.27	0.02	0.92	0.02	0.06	0.02	0.77	0.02
Aspartic acid Cysteine	ND ^b	0.02	ND ^b	0.02	0.96 ND ^b	0.02	ND ^b	0.02	ND ^b	0.02
Glutamic acid	0.29	0.02	0.91	0.02	2.88	0.02	0.18	0.02	2.19	0.02
Glycine	0.16	0.02	0.28	0.02	1.01	0.03	0.05	0.02	0.68	0.02
Histidine*	0.02	0.01	0.27	0.02	0.81	0.02	0.16	0.02	0.79	0.02
Isoleucine*	0.07	0.02	0.74	0.02	2.52	0.02	0.46	0.02	2.26	0.02
Leucine*	0.09	0.02	0.75	0.02	2.49	0.02	0.25	0.02	2.01	0.02
Lysine*	0.13	0.02	0.74	0.02	2.93	0.03	0.25	0.02	2.40	0.02
Methionine*	0.03	0.02	0.38	0.02	1.21	0.02	0.21	0.03	1.13	0.02
Phenylananine*	0.04	0.02	0.67	0.02	1.70	0.02	0.48	0.02	1.41	0.02
Proline	0.07	0.02	0.41	0.02	1.26	0.02	0.18	0.02	0.97	0.02
Serine	0.11	0.02	0.56	0.02	1.82	0.02	0.38	0.02	1.65	0.02
Threonine*	0.08	0.02	0.64	0.02	2.16	0.02	0.38	0.02	2.02	0.03
Tryptophan*	ND		ND		ND		ND		ND	
Tyrosine	0.05	0.02	0.67	0.02	0.91	0.02	0.58	0.02	0.75	0.02
Valine*	0.06	0.02	0.54	0.02	1.74	0.02	0.32	0.02	1.51	0.02

Table 3- Free amino acid composition (g/100g protein) in tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, minced and ensiled by acid and biological methods (all values represents means of two replicates)

* Essential Amino Acids ^b ND = Not Determined

^c Standard deviation











4.2. Proximate analysis of the ingredients used in the diets

The proximate composition of the ingredients used in the diets formulation are listed in Table 4. The chemical analyses on the silages was done after the samples were co-dried with wheat bran and sun dried for approximately 20 hours in steel trays with 1 cm of depth. All ingredients used in the diet formulation, with the exception of the silages, were obtained commercially.

4.3. Formulation and proximate analysis of the experimental diets

The formulation and proximate analysis of the experimental diets are listed in Table 5. The crude protein level in the diets was maintained at 30% and the energy at about 370-380 Kcal/100g DM. The essential amino acid compositions of the diets are shown in Table 6. According to Tacon (1990) the essential amino acid requirement for ornnivorous species are: Isoleucine – 1.09; Arginine – 1.68; Histidine – 0.71; Leucine – 1.99; Lysine – 2.31; Methionine – 0.75; Phenyalanine – 1.13; Threonine – 1.26; Tryptophan – 0.23 and Valine – 1.30. All diets formulated for the growth trial exceed the amount of amino acid required. At the end of the first week all fish became accustormed to the diets.

Table 4- Proximate analyses (%DM basis) of the ingredients used in the preparation of experimental diets (data are means of 3 replicates)

Ingredients	Dry matter	st. dev.	Crude protein	st. dev.	Crude lipid	st. dev.	Crude fiber	st. dev.	Ash	st. dev.	NFE ⁵	Gross energy ⁶
Corn meal	87.59	2.42	14.33	1.12	8.29	0.48	2.88	0.46	1.39	0.34	73.11	458.75
Wheat flour	86.71	1.21	19.95	1.29	1.76	0.23	1.62	0.32	9.21	0.45	67.46	405.03
Fish meal	88.57	1.96	55.21	1.48	15.81	2.92	1.10	0.19	22.00	1.21	4.88	488.88
FAS (4)1	89.50	0.85	53.41	1.41	13.00	1.93	6.80	1.02	13.52	0.54	13.27	477.00
FAS (30) ²	88.91	1.57	52.81	1.72	14.12	0.17	5.98	0.20	14.10	0.18	12.99	483.13
BFS (4)3	91.30	2.36	46.65	0.57	12.78	1.66	5.71	0.29	12.64	0.33	22.22	473.75
BFS (30)4	91.12	2.04	45.86	0.66	13.36	0.54	6.03	0.59	11.87	1.28	22.88	477.54
Soybean meal	88.73	2.24	49.74	0.62	1.72	0.83	6.33	0.32	8.24	0.68	33.97	434.16
Manioc hay	87.59	2.42	14.33	1.12	8.29	0.48	2.88	0.46	1.39	0.34	40.69	293.81

FAS(4) : WB - Formic acid silage stored for 4 days and co-dried with wheat bran

²FAS(30) : WB - Formic acid silage stored for 30 days and co-dried with wheat bran

³BFS(4) : WB - Biological fermented silage stored for 4 days and co-dried with wheat bran

BFS(30) : WB - Biological fermented silage stored for 30 days and co-dried with wheat bran

⁵NFE = 100 - (% moisture + % crude protein + % crude lipid + % ash)

Gross energy (Kcal/toog DM) = 4.1 Kcal g⁻¹ for carbohydrate; 9.51 Kcal g⁻¹ for lipid and 5.6 Kcal g⁻¹ for protein (Fagbenro and Jauncey, 1994a)

and the second se			Diets ²		
Ingredients	1	2	3	4	5 (control)
Fish meal	-	-	-	-	25.14
Wheat flour	47.66	44.19	44.32	45.73	17.88
Soybean meal	4.00	4.00	4.53	4.08	12.13
Manioc flour	17.80	20.73	12.15	11.20	8.46
Corn meal	-	-	-	-	32.39
FAS (4)	26.54	-	-	-	-
FAS (30)	-	27.08	-	-	-
BFS (4)	-	-	35.00	-	-
BFS (30)	-	-	-	35.00	-
Vitamin premix ³	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Mineral premix ⁴	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Tapioca starch ⁵	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Chromic oxide ⁶	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00

Table 5- Formulation and proximate analyses¹ of experimental diets (g/100g dry weight) for juvenile tambagui, Colossoma macropomum

Proximate analyses									
Moisture	8.20	8.00	8.90	7.80	9.00				
Crude protein	30.81	30.76	30.25	30.00	31.00				
Crude lipid	6.23	6.00	6.18	6.33	5.63				
Crude fibre	4.10	4.40	4.90	4.20	4.60				
Ash	14.29	14.73	15.12	15.23	13.04				
NFE ⁷	36.37	36.11	34.65	36.44	36.73				
Gross Energy ⁸	380.90	377.36	370.23	377.60	377.73				
Calcium	1.33	1.34	1.41	1.43	2.20				
Phosphorus	0.66	0.67	0.71	0.72	0.66				

All values represent means of three replicates

²Diets designated numbers corresponds to the type of silage used (see Table 4)

Des begigteen nameer browket the following (mg/100g diet): Thiamine (81) 2 5mg; Rboftavin (82) 2 5mg; Pyrldoxine (89) 2 0mg; Pantothenic acid 5 0mg; Insolito 100mg; Biofin 3 3mg; Faice acid 0 75mg; Para amino berxozi acid 2 5mg; Choline 200 0mg; Naioni (83) 100mg; Oparobatismini (812) 5mg; Ascottic acid 9 6 00mg; Menatione (N) 2 0mg; The minoral supolement provided the following amount per 100g of diet: CaHPox, H₁O 727 8mg; MgSOx, 7H₂O

⁴The mineral supplement provided the following amount per 100g of diel: CaHPO4, HyO 727.8mg; MgSO4, 7H₂O 127.5mg; NaCl 60.0mg; KCl 50.0mg; FeSO4, 7H₂O 25.0mg; ZnSO4, 7H₂O 0.48mg; CaIO₃, 6H₂O 0.3mg; CrCl. 6H2O 0.13mg

⁵Binder

⁶Inert marker for the determination of apparent digestibility coefficient

¹NFE (Nitrogen Free Extract) = 100 – (⁵/₆ moisture + ⁵/₆ crude protein + ⁵/₆ crude lipid + ⁵/₈ ash) ¹Cross energy (Kcal/100g DM) = 4.1 Kcal g⁻¹ for carbohydrate; 9.51 Kcal g⁻¹ for lipid and 5.6 Kcal g⁻¹ for protein (Facherro and Jauncev. 1994a)

Amino acid	Diets ^a												
	1	st. dev. ^b +/-	2	st. dev. +/-	3	st. dev. +/-	4	st. dev. +/-	5 (control)	st. dev. +/-			
Isoleucine	4.73	0.15	4.55	0.40	4.26	0.36	4.29	0.45	4.28	0.01			
Arginine	7.21	0.13	7.44	0.07	6.93	0.15	7.25	0.22	7.07	0.17			
Histidine	2.52	0.30	2.21	0.25	2.36	0.40	2.37	0.06	2.51	0.66			
Leucine	6.96	0.35	7.01	0.16	7.25	0.13	6.97	0.21	7.15	0.21			
Lysine	5.51	0.55	5.25	0.13	5.71	0.14	5.36	0.04	5.40	0.66			
Methionine	2.51	0.29	2.28	0.40	2.06	0.08	2.30	0.19	2.44	0.08			
Phenyalanine	4.28	0.08	4.51	0.36	4.27	0.47	4.35	0.52	4.35	0.49			
Threonine	4.28	0.17	4.13	0.18	4.26	0.42	4.35	0.49	4.24	0.48			
Tryptophan	1.31	0.01	1.06	0.08	1.36	0.36	1.21	0.30	1.33	0.33			
Valine	5.51	0.28	5.55	0.25	5.28	0.49	5.06	0.08	5.28	0.57			

Table 6- Essential amino acid composition (g/100g protein) of experimental diets (data are means of two replicates)

⁶ Diets designated numbers corresponds to the type of silage used (see Table 4) ³ Standard deviation

4.4. Water Quality

The water quality parameters in the experimental tanks remained relatively constant during the 90 days growth trial. Tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum*, can tolerate very low oxygen levels in the water being able to survive in waters with an oxygen level of 0.5mg/l. In this case, a morphological adaptation occurs in which a lip protrusion develops allowing the absorption of oxygen from the surface by the fish. Water temperature and dissolved oxygen varied from 28 -29.5°C and 4.0-7.0 mg/l respectively (Figure 8).

The exact concentration at which ammonia becomes toxic to fish varies among species. In addition other factors like water temperature and pH play a significant role. Ammonia in water occurs in two forms: toxic un-ionized ammonia (NH₃) and the relatively non toxic ionized ammonium (NH₄+). Both types of ammonia are measured to determine its total concentration in water. The mean concentration of NH₃ and NH₄+ ranged between 0.001-0.005 ppm and 0.03-0.07 mg/l, respectively. The pH values ranged from 6.9 -7.8 (Table7).

4.5. Growth response and feed utilization

4.5.1. Growth

Growth response for fish fed on the various diets is shown in Figure 9. No mortality occurred during the growth trial, which indicates proper water quality and handling of the fish. A paired sample test was used to compare the means of initial and final weight for each diet. According to the results obtained there was very little range in the weight changes in all 5 diets respectively (Appendix III). The paired sample correlation coefficient showed that within diets all fish grew proportionally to their original weight (Appendix IV).

Jackson et al. (1984) found no significant difference in final weight for salmon fed diets based on fish silage when compared to a commercial fish meal diet. Wee et al. (1986) compared the growth of *Clarias batrachus* L. fed diets based on tilapia fish silage and fish meal. The authors found no significant differences in final weight among diets.



Figure 8- Water Temperature and Dissolved Oxygen (DO) of the experimental tanks used in the 90 days growth trial
	Treatments														
		1			2			3			4			5	
Days	pH	NH ₃	NH4	pH	NH ₃	NH4	pH	NH ₃	NH4	pH	NH ₃	NH ₄	pH	NH ₃	NH ₄
7	7.40	0.01	0.05	7.00	0.02	0.05	7.60	0.01	0.04	7.00	0.07	0.04	7.02	0.01	0.03
22	7.87	0.09	0.04	7.35	0.15	0.05	7.12	0.15	0.04	7.30	0.01	0.04	7.00	0.03	0.04
37	7.12	0.03	0.05	7.25	0.08	0.04	7.06	0.09	0.05	7.16	0.12	0.05	7.12	0.11	0.05
52	7.82	0.16	0.03	7.30	0.12	0.05	7.33	0.01	0.05	7.06	0.09	0.05	7.25	0.02	0.05
67	7.06	0.08	0.04	7.20	0.20	0.05	6.99	0.13	0.06	7.10	0.01	0.05	7.06	0.16	0.06
82	7.70	0.03	0.03	7.30	0.17	0.06	7.06	0.08	0.04	6.98	0.16	0.05	7.00	0.13	0.03
97	7.00	0.08	0.06	7.07	0.19	0.05	7.03	0.08	0.06	7.00	0.10	0.07	6.90	0.09	0.05

Table 7– pH, NH₃ and NH₄ of the experimental tanks used in the 90 days growth trial

Average daily weight gain (ADG) values found in this study ranged between 1.41-1.50 g/day (Table 8). These results were superior than those reported by Merola and Cantelmo (1987). These authors found values of 1.32 g/day for tambaqui fed diets containing 30% crude protein. Merola and De Sousa (1988) obtained values of 1.07 g/day. Ramos *et al.* (1992) fed a 25% crude protein diet to tambaqui and reported an average daily gain of 1.03 g/day. Eckmann (1983) (cited in Saint-Paul 1986), obtained an ADG of 0.8 g/day when feeding a diet containing 30% crude protein to juvenile tambaqui with a feeding rate of 3% body weight. The values found in the present study were higher than those found by the above authors. This may possibly be explained by the higher stocking density of 82500 fish/ha used in this trial compared to 24350 fish/ha used by the authors mentioned above, since the protein level in the diet and the feeding rates were similar.

The specific growth rate (SGR) values ranged between 1.34-1.40 (Table8). Martins and Guzman (1994) obtained a specific growth rate of 1.39 for tambaqui fed an experimental diet of 32.77% protein. Nunez and Salaya (1984) raising tambaqui in cages obtained values of specific growth rate ranging between 1.3-2.2 when a diet with 50% protein was used. Prada (1982) obtained higher values of SGR which ranged from 1.7-2.2 for tambaqui fed diets containing 23% protein using cement tanks at a stocking density of 2000 fish/ha.



Diets designated number corresponds to the type of silage used (see Table 4)

Figure 9- Growth response of tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum juvenile fed experimental diets

The highest average daily gain (ADG) was obtained with diets 3 and 5 and the lowest with diet 1. For specific growth rate (SGR), diet 5 gave the highest result followed by diet 3 and the lowest value was obtained in diet 1. The values for average daily gain (ADG) and specific growth rate (SGR) showed no significant differences between diets (p<0.05) (Appendix V). Fagbenro and Jauncey (1994) also found no significant difference in ADG and SGR for juvenile catfish, Clarias gariepinus, fed co-dried biological fish silage stored for 30 days when compared to a control fish meal diet. The authors also found that silage stored for 15 days gave better ADG and SGR values than a fish meal diet and a diet prepared using silage stored for 30 days. Ali et al. (1994) fed a diet containing 35% protein to major carp, Cirrinus mrigala, and found values of ADG and SGR significantly higher than those obtained by a control fish meal diet. The silage diet had sulphuric acid fish silage, fermented for 3 days, as the main source of protein (100%). Wood et al. (1985) reported a lower value of 1.25 for SGR in common carp fed a formic acid silage diet stored for 6 months compared to a 1.57 SGR when fish were fed a fish meal diet. In the present study SGR for fish fed the control diet based on fishmeal was 1.40 which was higher than the other diets. The reason for lower SGR of fish fed silage diets could possibly be explained by the length of silage storage prior to being used in the diet. The longer the autolysis is allowed to last, the higher the number of amino acids in the free form are presented in the diet . The amino acids may be absorbed faster in a diet contained hydrolyzed protein than in a diet containing intact proteins. This may result in an "overflow" of the anabolic pathways in the liver and more amino acids may enter the catabolic pathways (Espe et al. 1992). A reduced utilization of amino acids for the synthesis of protein by the liver occurs when a hydrolyzed protein is ingested. By limiting the autolysis period, a higher amount of silage could be included in the diet without compromising fish growth.

Table 8- Growth performance, protein utilization and protein digestibility of tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, fed silage diets and fish meal diet for 90 days

Diet	Initial	st. dev1	Final	st. dev	ADG ²	st. dev	SGR ³	st. dev	AFCR ⁴	st. dev	PER ⁵	st. dev	APD ⁶	st. dev
	(g)	(+/-)	Weight (g)	(+/-)	(g/day)	(+/-)	(%/day)	(+/-)		(+/-)		(+/-)		(+/-)
1	55.01	6.91	187.04	6.14	1.41	0.44	1.36	0.21	2.05	0.41	1.63	0.27	80.39	3.00
2	54.69	6.18	187.14	6.38	1.47	0.57	1.37	0.31	2.13	0.88	1.66	0.41	79.13	7.20
3	55.19	5.08	190.20	5.00	1.50	0.41	1.38	0.28	2.03	0.40	1.69	0.40	82.00	6.15
4	55.23	5.06	188.27	5.02	1.49	0.54	1.37	0.29	2.08	0.61	1.69	0.40	82.00	3.36
5	54.71	5.05	190.02	4.93	1.50	0.39	1.40	0.20	1.98	0.28	1.66	0.24	81.64	1.87
(control)														

² Standard deviation ² Average daily weight gain = (wt - wo)/t ³ Specific growth rate = 100 x (In wt-In wo)/t

⁴ Apparent Feed conversion Ratio = dry feed fed/wet weight gain

⁵ Protein Efficiency Ratio = wet weight gain/protein fed

⁶ Apparent Protein Digestibility = 100 - (% Cr/O₃ in feed/%Cr/O₃ in feces) x (% protein in feces/% protein in feed) x 100

4.5.2. Dietary protein utilization

Data on dietary protein utilization is shown in Table 8. The protein efficiency ratio (PER), which quantifies the efficiency of dietary protein in promoting growth, is defined as the gain in fish weight per gram of crude protein. In the present study, PER ranged from 1.63-1.69. Carneiro and Eross (1991) feeding fingerlings tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum*, at 7% of the body weight using a diet with 27% of protein, in which the main source of protein originated from biological fermented silage stored for 7 days, reported a value of 1.98 for PER. Martins and Guzman (1994) and Merola and Cantelmo (1987) obtained a PER of 2.11 and 1.83 for juvenile tambaqui, using diets with 32.77 and 30% of protein respectively. The values for PER found in the present feeding trial were lower than those found by the authors mentioned above. Diets 3 and 4, which had biological fermented silage stored for 4 days as the main protein source, gave the best results for protein efficiency rate while diet 1 (acid silage stored for 4 days as the main source of protein gave the lowest result.

The PER values obtained from the fish fed all 5 diets were not significantly different (Appendix V). Fagbenro et al. (1994) replacing 75% of fishmeal with lactic acid fish silage and feeding to juvenile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*, found no significant difference for PER values when compared to a fish meal diet. Ali et al. (1994) obtained a PER value of 1.25 for major carp, *Cirrinus mrigala*, fed diets containing sulphuric acid silage as the main source of protein in contrast of a value of 0.83 for a fish meal control diet.

4.5.3. Apparent feed conversion ratio

Values on feed conversion ratio (FCR) are listed in Table 8. Results on feed conversion ratio obtained in the present feeding trial ranged between 1.98-2.13. These results were similar to those obtained by Carneiro and Eross (1991) who reported values of 2.11 for FCR for tambaqui fed a biological silage diet containing 27% protein and to those obtained by Eckman (1987) who reported a FCR of 1.9 for tambaqui fed diet with 30% protein. This study yielded lower results when compared to the values obtained by Merola and Cantelmo (1987) who obtained values of 1.63 for juvenile tambaqui fed diets with 30% protein. Werder and Saint-Paul (1978) obtained a higher FCR of 2.3 for tambaqui fed diets containing 30% protein. Although diet 5, using fishmeal as the main source of protein, gave the best result for apparent feed conversion while diet 2 (formic cal silage stored for 30 days as the main source of protein) gave the lowest value there was no significant difference for AFCR among diets (Appendix V).

4.6. Protein digestibility

4.6.1. Chromic oxide content in feed and feces

For the determination of chromic oxide (Cr_2O_3) content in the fish feces, it was necessary to construct a standard curve from the solutions with known Cr_2O_3 concentrations (Figure 10). A mother-solution containing 10 mg of Cr_2O_3 in 100ml of distilled water was diluted in different standard concentrations from 0.5 to 4.0 mg in 100 ml, in intervals of 0.5 mg each. Then a standard curve relating the absorbance readings with those of the solutions whose concentrations were previously known was determined.

Using the method of orthogonal polynomials the linear regression equation was determined as:

Y = - 0.0016 + 0.0196 X

where Y is the estimate for Cr_2O_3 in the feces samples (collected in the different treatments) and X is the absorbance reading.

Chromic Oxide concentration in the fish feces determined by wet-acid digestion (Furukawa and Tsukahara, 1966) based in the equation above, showed the following averages results for treatments 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 respectively 2.256, 2.292, 2.6496, 2.6837 and 2.531 (Appendix VI). Protein content in feces samples were determined as described in Section 3.2. The average crude protein value in the feces samples for treatments 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 were respectively; 13.07, 13.31, 13.76, 13.91 and 14.12.

With the values of crude protein obtained by the proximate analyses of the diets, and the results obtained for crude protein and Cr_2O_3 levels on diets and fish feces samples (Appendices VI and VII), the apparent protein coefficient was determined using the formula of Maynard and Loosli (1969) according to section 3.3.4.3. The results for Apparent Protein Digestibility are shown in Table 8.



Figure 10- Absorbance readings for the determination of Cr₂O₃

4.6.2. Apparent protein digestibility

Data on apparent protein digestibility (APD) is presented in Table 8. In the present study the digestibility values ranged between 79 to 82%. Similar results were found by Hardy et al. (1984) for rainbow trout fed dry fish silage diets. Hossain et al. (1992), on the other hand, reported higher values for APD ranging between 88.23% to 88.85% for tilapia fed diets containing fish silage as the sole source of protein.

All silages gave high digestibility values for protein, the highest value being those of diet 3 and 4 and the lowest being that of diet 2. Both diets 3 and 4, which gave the highest protein digestibility, were based on biological fermented silage stored for 4 and 30 days respectively. Although diet 4 had silage stored for 30 days as the main source of protein, in this silage only 53% of the protein was in the soluble form compared to the silage used in diet 2, in which 82% of the protein became soluble at the end of the 30 day storage period.

The lower values for protein digestibility for diet 2, which was based on formic acid silage stored for 30 days as the main source of protein, may be attributed to the fact that the silage had a higher level of non-protein nitrogen (free amino acids and peptides) which may interfere with the mechanism for peptide and amino acid absorption. The analysis of variance could not be applied to testing APD, since a few replicates in each treatment are necessary in order to generate variation in within groups.

According to the NRC (1977) carp can digest 95% of fishmeal protein. However, the value can decrease to 80-85% (Ogino and Chen, 1973). The lower APD value of fishmeal in this study (81.63%) might be related to the origin of the product, which was

obtained in the local market.

4.8. Fish carcass composition

The carcass composition of fish at the beginning and end of the feeding trial is shown in Table 9. After feeding, protein, lipid and ash concentration in fish carcass increased while moisture decreased in all 5 groups. An increase in protein and lipid in fish carcass was also obtained by Lie et al. (1998), Fagbenro and Jauncey (1994a,), Fagbenro et al. (1994b) and Ali et al. (1994). A higher deposition of protein at the cost of moisture was obtained on diets 3 and 4, were co-dried biological fermented silage was used to replace fishmeal in a rate of 35%. Thus, the diets containing higher levels of fish silage produced higher levels of carcass protein and lower levels of moisture. This increase in protein content may be due to higher apparent protein digestibility obtained by fish fed diets 3 and 4. According to Fagbenro et al. (1994b), the increase in lipid content of fish carcass of fish ed co-dried fish silage could be due to the occurrence of reduction in moisture content. The increase in and lipid content of fish carcass were highly statistically significant while the increase in ash content was not significant (Appendix IX).

Diet	Moisture	sd. dev.	Crude Protein	sd. dev.	Crude Lipid	sd. dev.	Ash	sd. dev.
Initial	76.77	1.23	13.59	0.63	5.61	0.42	2.26	0.37
1	71.58	1.03	15.67	1.36	7.52	0.46	4.30	0.63
2	73.53	1.13	15.37	1.90	6.34	0.39	4.39	0.48
3	68.55	1.33	18.32	0.60	8.47	0.50	4.43	0.43
4	68.45	0.57	18.31	0.61	7.68	0.69	4.29	1.00
5 (control)	70.43	1.96	17.93	0.45	8.13	0.40	3.44	0.41

Table 9- Carcass composition of tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, at the beginning and at the end of the feeding trial ¹

1 All values represents means of three replicates

CHAPTER V

5.0 Conclusion

The present study with tilapia silage has successfully demonstrated that tilapia can be preserved by using formic acid or a lactic acid bacteria and molasses as a carbohydrate source. These products showed to be stable during the 30 days fermentation period at ambient temperature (30°C). The suitability of this technique at ambient temperature is expected to minimize operation costs.

The results showed that fish fed some of the dietary protein as partly autolysed protein, utilized protein at about the same efficiency as fish fed non-autolysed protein. Since tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomun*, grew well in all 5 diets, the increase in protein solubilisation seems to have an insignificant effect on the fish growth performance.

Feedstuffs that are poorly digested would be of limited nutritional value to an animal. Thus, digestibility values reported in this study suggested that tilapia silage meal represent an alternative form of a protein feed source in aquaculture.

Based on the reasonable acceptability of all diets tested by juvenile tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, the good protein digestibility and the satisfactory growth performance obtained in this study, it can be concluded that co-dried tilapia fish silage can be successfully utilized as an alternative protein source for fishmeal in fish diets. In this way, it is possible to utilize processing wastes for producing valuable animal protein and, furthermore, make a contribution to the protection of nature and the environment.

REFERENCES

- Ali, M.Z., Gheyasuddin, S. Zaher, M. Hossain, M. A. and Islam, M. N. (1994). Evaluation of fish silage prepared from underutilized marine fishes as protein sources in the diet of major carp, *Cirrhinus mirgalla*. Journal of Aqua. in the Trop., 9: 247-254.
- Alwan, S. R., Buckley, D. J. and O'Connor, T. P. (1993). Silage from fish waste: Chemical and microbiological aspects. Irish Journal of Agric. and Food Research, 32: 75-81.
- Association of Oficial Analytical Chemistry, (1990). Official Methods of Analysis, 13th eddition, AOAC, Washington, DC. 1094p.
- Archdekin, C. G., Higgs, D. A., Mckeown, B. A. and Plisetskaya, E. (1988). Protein requirements of post-juvenile chinook salmon in seawater. Proc. Aquaculture Symposium, Vancouver, British Columbia. Aquaculture of Canada Bulletin, December edition 88-4; pp 78-80.
- Austreng, E. (1978). Digestibility determination in fish using chromic oxide marking and analysis of contents from different sections of the gastrointestinal tract. Aquaculture, 13: 265-272.
- Atkinson, J. L., Hilton, J. W. and Slinger, S. J., (1984). Evaluation of acid insoluble ash as an indicator of feed digestibility in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 41: 1384-1386.
- Backhoff, P. H. (1976). Some chemical changes in fish silage. J. Food Technol., 11: 353-363.
- Balarin, J. D. and Haller, R. D. (1982). In: Recent Advances in Aquaculture. Eds. J. F. Muirand and R. J. Roberts. Pp265-356. Croom Helm, London.
- Barlow, S. (1989). Fish Meal: World Outlook of the Year 2000. Fish Farmer, October 1989. pp 40-43.
- Batista, I. (1987). Fish silage: preparation and uses. In: Nutrition in Marine Aquaculture, ed. A. Bruno. FAO/UNDP/MEDRAP, Tunis, pp. 227-248.
- Blackburn, S. (1978). Sample preparation and hydrolytic methods in amino acid determination. Methods and techniques. Ed. Marcell Dekker. New York. pp 7-37.
- Bowen, S. H. (1981). Digestion and assimilation of periphytic detrial aggregate by *Tilapia mossambica*. Transactions American Fisheries Society, 110: 239-245.

- Buddington, R. K., (1980). Hydrolysis resistant organic matter as a reference for measurement for fish digestive efficiency. Transactions American Fisheries Society, 109: 653-656.
- Carneiro, D. J., (1990). Efeito da temperatura sobre a exigencia de proteina e energia em dietas para alevinos de pacu, *Piaractus mesopotamicus* (Holmberg, 1887). PhD. Thesis. UFSCAR, São Carlos. S.P.
- Carneiro, A. R. X. and Eröss, S. (1991). Uso do ensilado biologico de pescado na alimentação de alevinos de tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum* Cuvier, 1818. Anais do VII Congresso Brasileiro de Engenharia de Pesca - VII COMBEP -Santos, SP, po 23-33.
- Carneiro, D. J., Castagnolli, N., Machado, C. R. & Verardino, M., (1984). Nutrição de pacu, Colossoma mitrei, (Berg 1895). III Niveis de energia metabolizavel em dietas isoproteicas. In: Proc. Simp. Bras. Aquicultura 3, UFSCAR, São Carlos, S.P. 1330.

Castagnolli, N. (1979). In: Fundamentos de Nutrição de Peixes. ed. Livroceres. 108p.

- Cho, C. Y., Bayley, H. S. and Slinger, S. J. (1975). An automated fish respirometer for nutrition studies. In: Proc. 28th ann. Meeting of Can. Conf. for Fish Res., Vancouver, BC.
- Cho, C. Y. & Watanabe, T., (1985). Methodological approaches to reasearch and development. Part 1. In: Einfish Nutrition in Asia. IDRC-233e. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, pp.9-80.
- Cowey, C. B., Adron, J. W., Hardy, R., Smith, J. G. M. and Waiton, J. J. (1979). Utilization by rainbow trout of diets containing partially rendered bride fleshing. Aquaculture, 16: 199-209.

Cowey, C. B. and Sargent, J. R., (1972). Fish Nutrition. Adv. Mar. Biol. 10:383-492.

- Cowey, C. B. and Sargent, J. R., (1979). In: Fish Physiology, Vol VIII. Bioenergetics and growth. Eds: Hoar, W. S., Randall, D. J. and Brett, J. R. Academic Press, New York, NY, pp 1-69.
- Da Silva, A. B., Sobrinho, A. C. and Meio, F. R. (1984). Contribuição ao estudo do cultivo intensivo do tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum Cuvier, com a utilização do milho, Zea mays, em grãos como alimento. Annais do Simpósio Brasileiro de Aquicultura III, São Carlos, SP, pp. 157-163.
- DeLong, D. C., Halver, J. E. and Mertz, E. T., (1958). Nutrition of salmonid fishes. VI. Protein requirements of chinook salmon at two water temperatures. J. Nutr., 65:589-600.

- De Silva, S. S. (1989). In: Fish Nutrition Research in Asia. Proceedings of the Third Asian Fish Nutrition Network Meeting. Ed. Asian Fisheries Society in association with the Intermational Research Centre of Canada. 166 pp.
- De Silva, S. S. and Perera, M. K. (1983). Digestibility of an aquatic macrophyte by the cichlid *Etroplus suratensis* with observations on the relative merits of three indigenous components as markers and daily changes in protein digestibility. J. Fish. Biol., 23: 675-684.
- Dhatemwa, C. M. (1989). Simple methods of processing fish for animal feeds. In: Proc.FAO Consulation on Fish Tech. in Africa ed A. Tall. FAO, Fisheries Report No. 400 Supplemented, FAO, Rome. pp. 203-206.
- Disney, J. G. & Hoffman, A., (1976). A dried fish silage product. In: Proceedings of the Torry Research Station Symposium on Fish Silage. Aberdeen, Torry Research Station.
- Disney, J. G., Tatterson, I. N. & Olley, J., (1977). Recent development in fish silage. In: Proceedings of the conference on the handling, processing and market of tropical fish. United Kingdom, Tropical Products Institute.
- Dong, F. M., Fairgrieve, W. T., Skonberg, D. I. and Rasco, B. A. (1993). Preparation and nutriente analyses of lactic acid bacterial ensiled salmon viscera. Aquaculture, 109:351-366.
- Dupree, H. K. (1969). Influences of corn oil and beef talow on growth of channel catfish. U.S Bur. Sport Fish. Wild Tech. pap. 27. 13p.
- Dupree, H. K., Gauglitz, Jr., Hall, A. S. and Roule, C. R. (1979). Effects of dietary lipids on the growth and acceptability (flavor) of channel catfish, *lctalurus punctatus*. In: Finfish Nutrition and Fish Feed Technology. Ed. J. E. Halverand K. Tiews. Vol. II, p. 87-103.
- Eckmann, R. (1987). Growth and body composition of juvenille, Colossoma macropomum Cuvier, 1818 (Characoidei) feeding on artificial diets. Aquaculture, 64: 293-303.
- Espe, M., Haaland, H. & Njaa, L. R. (1990). Digestibility and utilisation in young growing rats given saithe offal silage stored for different length of time as the sole protein Source. Fisk. Dir. Ser. Ernaering, vol. III, No. 1, 37-42.
- Espe, M., Haaland, H., Njaa, L. R. and Raa, J. (1992). Growth of young rats on diets based on fish silage with different degrees of hydrolysis. Food Chemistry, 44: 195-200.
- Espe, M., Raa, J. and Njaa, L. R. (1989). Nutrional value of stored fish silage as a protein source for young rats. J. Scie. Food Agric., 49:259-270.

- Fagbenro, O. and Jauncey, K. (1993a). Chemical and nutrional quality of stored fermented fish (tilapia) silage. Bioresource Technology, 46: 207-211.
- Fagbenro, O. and Jauncey, K. (1993b). Chemical and nutrional quality of raw, cooked and salted fish silages. Food Chemistry, 48: 331-335.
- Fagbenro, O. and Jauncey, K. (1994a). Growth and protein utilization by juvenile catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*, fed moist diets containing autolysed protein from stored lacticacid-fermented fish-silage. Bioresource Technol., 48: 43-48.
- Fagbenro, O. and Jauncey, K. (1995). Water stability, nutrient leaching and nutritional properties of moist fermented fish silage diets. Aqualcultural Engineering, 14: 143-153.
- Fagbenro, O., Jauncey, K. and Haylor, G. (1994b). Nutritive values of diets containing dried lactic acid fermented fish silage and soybean meal for juvenile Oreochromis niloicus and Clarias gariepinus. Aquat. Living Resour., 7:79-85.
- Furukawa, A. and Tsukahara, H. (1966). On the acid digestion method for chromic oxide as an index substance in the study of digestibility of fish feed. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries, 32(6): 502-506.
- Garling, D. L. & Wilson, R. P., (1976). Optimun dietary protein to energy ratio for channel catfish fingerlings, *Ictalurus punctatus*. J. Nutr., 106 (9):1369-1375.
- Gildberg, A. (1982). Autolysis of Fish Tissue General Aspects. Institute of Fisheries -University of Tromso, Norway. 112 pp.
- Gildberg, A. & Raa. J., (1977). Properities of a propionic acid/formic acid preserved of cod viscera. J. Sci. Food Technol. 28:647-653.
- Gidberg, A., Espejo-Hermes, J. and Orejana, F. M. (1984). Acceleration of autolysis during fish sauce fermentation by adding acid and reducing the salt content. J. Sci. Food Aaric., 35: 1363-1369.
- Goldstein, L. and Forster, R. P. (1970). Nitrogen metabolism in fishes. In: Comparative Biochemistry of Nitrogen Metabolism. Ed. J. W. Campbell. New York, NY. Academic Press. pp 497-518.
- Green, S., Wiseman, J. and Cole, D. J. A. (1988). Examination of stability, and its effect on the nutritive value, of fish silage in diets for growing pigs. Animal Feed Sci. Technol., 21: 43-56.
- Haaland, H. & Njaa, L. R. (1990). Fish silage preparted from raw material of varying guality; chemical analysis related to balance experiments in rats. Fisk. Dir. Ser.

Ernaering, vol. III, No. 1, 27-35.

- Haaland, H., Espe, M., Njaa, L. R. & Myklestad, H., (1990). Chemical composition and variation in some parameters during storage of 8 formic acid silages prepared from capelin. Fisk. Dir. Ser. Emaering, vol. III, No. 2, 59-74.
- Hall, G. M., Keeble, D., Ledward, D. A. and Lawrie, R. A. (1985). Silage from tropical fish. 1. Proteolysis. J. of Food Technol., 20:561-572.
- Halver, J. E. & DeLong, D. C. & Mertz, E. T., (1957). Nutrition of salmonid fishes, V. Classification of essential amino acids for chinook salmon. J. Nutr., 63:95-105.
- Hancz, C., (1993). Perfomance of the Amazonian Tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, in pond polyculture. Aquacultural engineering 12:245-254.
- Hardy, R. W. and Masumoto, Y. (1990). Specifications for marine by-products in aquaculture feeds. In: Proceedings Alaska Fish By-product Conference. Ed. S. Keller. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, University of Alaska, Fairbanks, Report No. 90-07, pp 109-120.
- Hardy, R. W., Shearer, K. D., Stone, F. E. and Wieg, D. H. (1983). Fish silage in aquaculture diets. J. World Maricult. Soc., 14: 695-703.
- Hardy, R. W., Shearer, K. D. and Spinelli, J. (1984). The nutritional products of co-dried fish silage in rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri dry diets. Aquaculture 38:35-44.

Hastings, W. H. (1973). Phase feeding for catfish. Prog. Fish. Cult., 35:195-196.

Haq, M. E., Bhuiyan, A. K. M. A., Begum, M. and Zaher, M. (1995). Efficacy of fish silage and fish meal on the growth performance of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* fry. Pak. J. Sci. Ind. Res., 38: 211-214.

Hepher, B. (1988). In: Nutrition of Pond Fishes. Ed. Cambridge University Press, 387p.

- Hernandez, A. Colossoma and Piaractus culture. In: Cultivo de Colossoma. Primeira reunion grupo de trabajo tecnico. Junio 20 al 24 de 1986. Pirassununga, SP, Brasil. ed. A. Hernandez. 475pp. Boqotá, Colombia, 1989.
- Higgs, D. A., McBride, J. R., Markert, J. R., Dosanjh, B. S., Plotnikoff, M. D. and Clarke, W. C. (1982). Evaluation of Tower and Candle rapeseed (canola) meal and Bronowski rapeseed protein concentrate as protein supplements in practical diets for juvenile chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha. Aquaculture, 29: 1-32.
- Hilton, J. W. and Atkinson, J. L. (1982). Reponses of rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri, to increased levels of available carbohydrate in practical trout diets. Br. J. Nutr., 47: 596-607/

Hilton, J. W. and Slinger, S. J. (1981). Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55. 15p

- Hossain, M. A, Nahar, N., Kamal, M. and Islam, M. N. (1992). Nutrients digestibility coefficients of some plant and animal proteins for tilapia, *Oreochromis* mossambicus, J. Aqua. Trop., 7:257-265.
- Jackson, A. J., Kerr, A. K. and Cowey, C. B. (1984). Fish silage as a dietary ingredient for salmon. I. Nutritional and storage characteristics. Aquaculture, 38:211-220.
- James, M. A., Iyer, K. M. and Nair, M. R. (1976). Comparative studies of fish ensilage prepared by microbial fermentation and formic acid ensilage. In: Proceedinhs of the Conference on the Handling, Processing and Marketing of Tropical Fish. Tropical Products institute, London, pp 273-275.
- Jangaard, P. M. (1987). Fish silage: A review and some recent developments. In: Proceedings of Fish Silage Workshop, Universite de Ste-Anne, Church Point, N. S., ed. G. Comeau. Ministry of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Canada. pp. 8-33.
- Jangaard, M. P., (1990). Fish silage in Norway: Current activities. Bull. Aquacul. Assoc. canada, March 1991.
- Kompiang, I. P., Darwanto, A. and Arifuddin, R. (1980). Nutritional value of fish silage. In: Fish Silage Production and its Use. Editors J. G. Dysney and D. James. FAO Fish Report No. 230: 44-47.
- Kompiang, I. P., Yushadi and Creswe, D. C. (1980). Microbial fish silage: Chemical composition, fermentation characteristics and nutrional value. In: Fish Silage Production and its Use. Proc. I.P.F.C. Workshop on Fish Silage, FAO Fish. Rep. 230, ed. J. G. Disney and D. James. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome pp. 384-3.
- Krogdahl, A. (1985). Fish viscera silage as a protein source for poultry. 1. Experiments with layer-type chics and hens. Acta Agric. Scand. 35: 3-23.
- Lamas, L., Rodriguez, S. and Pascual, C. (1992). Estudio comparativo de dos ensilados microbianos de pescado. Alimentaria, Septiembre 92, 59-63.
- Leatherland, J. F., Cho, C. Y. and Scinger, S. J. (1977). Effects of diet, ambient temperature and holding conditions on plasma thyroxine levels in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. J. Fish. Res. Board Can., 34: 677-682.
- Lee, D. J. and Putnam, G. B. (1973). The response of rainbow trout to varying protein/energy ratios in a test diet. J. Nutr., 103: 916-922.

Lehninger, A. L. (1982). Priciples of Biochemistry. Ed. Worth, New York.

- Lie, Ø. Waagbø, R. and Sandnes, K. (1988). Growth and chemical composition of adult Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) fed dry and silage based diets. Aquaculture 69. 343-353.
- Lindgren, S. & Clevstrom, G. M. (1978). Antibacterial activity of lactic acid bacteria. Swedish J. Agric. Res. 8:61-73.
- Lindgren, S. and Pleje, M. (1983). Silage fermentation of fish or fish waste with lactic acid bacteria. J. Sci. Food Agriculture, 34: 1057-1067.
- LINDO Linear Interactive and Discrete Optimizer for the IBM PC. Copyright (c) 1986,1987. Lindo Systems, Inc.
- Lovell, R. T. (1977). Feeding Pratices. In: Nutrition and feeding of channel catfish. Southern Cooperative Series. pp 50-55.
- Lovell, T. R., (1980) Nutrition and feeding. In: Fish farming Handbook: Food, bait, tropicals and goldfish. Brown, E. E. & Gratzek, J. B. Westport, Connecticut, A. V. I. p. 207-236.
- Lovshin, L. L.(1980). Situation of Colossoma sp. culture in South America. Revista Latinoamericana de Acuicultura. 5:27-32.
- Macedo, E. M., Carneiro, D. J. & Castagnolli, N., (1981). Necessidades proteicas na nutrição do tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum* Cuvier, 1818 (Pisces characidae). In: Proc. Simp. Bras. Aquicultura 2,2 ENAR Sudepe, Brasilia, D.F. 77p.
- Mackie, I. M. (1971). Fermented fish products. FAO Fisheries Report 100. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome 54 pp.
- Martin, A. M. and Besmister, P. L. (1994). Use of peat extract in the ensiling of fisheries waste. Waste Manage. Res., 12: 467-479.
- Martins, S. N. and Guzman, E. C. (1994). Effect of drying method of blood on the performance of growing diets for tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum*, Curvier 1818 in experimental culture tanks. Aquaculture, 124:335-341.
- Mathews, D. M. (1972). Intestinal absorption of amino acids and peptides. Proc. Nutr. Soc., 31: 171-177.
- Mavignier, G. V. L., Sampaio, A. R. and Silva, J. B. W. e. (1995). Policultivo de tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum Cuvier 1818, carpa comum, Cyprinus carpio L., var. communis e machos da tilapia do Nilo, Oreochomis niloticus L. 1766, consorciados com pato comum. Cairina moschata L. Revista Ciência Agronômica

26: 95-105.

- Maynard, L. A. and Loosli, J. K. (1969). Animal Nutrition. Ed. Mcgraw-Hill, New York. 6th edition. 613 pp.
- Melo, F. R., Sobrinho, A. C., Bezerra e Silva, J. W. and Barros, F. (1987). Resultados de um policultivo de tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum Curvier, 1818; hibridos de tilapia Oreochromis homorum Trew X Oreochromis niloticus L., 1766) e carpa espelho, Cyprinus carpio L., 1758 vr. specularis, consorciados com suino. Ciência e Cultura, 39(4): 379-386.
- Merola, N. and Pagan-Font, F. A. (1988). Pond culture of the Amazon fish tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum: a pilot study. Aqualcult. Eng., 7(1): 113-125.
- Merola, N. and De Sousa, J. H. (1988). Cage culture of the Amazon fish tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum, at two stocking densities. Aquaculture, 66: 223-233.
- Merola, N. and Cantelmo, O. A. (1987). Growth, feed conversion and mortality of cagereared tambaqui, *Colossoma macroponum*, fed various dietary feeding regimes and protein levels. Aquaculture, 71: 15-21.
- Millikin, M. R. (1982). Quantitative and qualitative nutrient requirements of fishes: A review. Fishery Bulletin, 80(4): 655-686.
- NAS National Academy of Science. Nutrient Requirements of Warmwater Fishes and Shellfishes. Revised ed. Washington, D. C., 93p.
- Nicholson, J. W. G. and Johnson, D. A., (1991). Herring silage as a protein supplement for young cattle. Can. J. Anim. Sci., 71:1187-1196.
- Nilsson, R. and Rydin, C. (1965). A new method of ensiling foodstuff and feedstuff of vegetable and animal origin. Enzymology, 29: 126-142.
- NRC (1977). In: Nutrient Requirements of Warm Water Fishes. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C. 78pp.
- NRC (1981). Nutrients Requirements of Coldwater Fishes. National Academy Press. Washington, D. C.
- Nunez, J. M. and Salaya, J. J. (1984). Cultivo de cachama, Colossoma macropomum, Cuvier 1818, en jaulas flotantes no rigidas el la represa de guanapito, Edo. Guarico, Venezuela. Men. Asoc. Latinoamericana Acuicuítura, 5:481-494.
- Ogino, C. and Chen, M. S. (1973). Protein nutrition in fish. III. Apparent and true digestibility of dietary protein in carp. Bull. Jpn. Soc. Sci. Fish., 39:649-651.

- Ologhobo, A. D., Balogun, A. M. and Bolarinwa, B. B. 91988). The replacement of fish silage for fish meal in practical broiler rations. Biol. Wastes, 25: 117-125.
- Page, A. W. & Andrews, J. W., (1973). Interactions of dietary levels of protein and energy on channel catfish, *Ictalurus Puntatus*. J. Nutr. 103:1339-1346.
- Penke, B., Ferenczi, R. and Kovacs, K. A. (1974). A new acid hydrolysis method for determination of tryptophan in peptides and protein. Anal. Biochem., 60:45-50.
- Petersen, H. (1953). Acid preservation of fish silage and fish offal. FAO Fish. Bull., 6(1-2): 18-26.
- Pezzato, L. E. (1990). Efeitos de diferentes niveis de gordura de origem animal e vegetal sobre o desempenho, assimilação e deposição de matéria graxa pelo pacu, *Piaractus mesopotamicus* (Holmberg, 1887), Ph.D. Thesis, UNESP, FMVA. Jaboticabal, SP. 90p.
- Phillips Jr., A. M., (1972). Calorie and energy requirement. In: Fish Nutrition. Ed. J. E. Halver. New York, Academic Press, pp,1-28.
- Prada, N. (1982). Densidades y niveles de suministro de alimento en el cultivo de "cachama", Colossoma macropomum (Cuvier) 1818. In: Mem. IV Simp. Assoc. Latinoamericana. Acuicult., Panama.
- Raa, J. & Gildberg, A., (1982). Fish Silage: A Review. CRC Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr., 16:383-419.
- Raa, J., Gildberg, A. and Strom, T. (1983). Silage production: Theory and practice. In: Upgrading Waste for Feeds, ed, D.A. Ledward, A. J. Taylor and R. A. Lawrie. Butterworths, London, pp. 117-132.
- Raghunath, M. R. and McCurdy, A. R. (1990). Influence of the pH on the proteinase complement and proteolytic products in rainbow trout viscera silage. J. Agricul. Food Chem., 38:45-50.
- Ramos, A. H. & Grajales, A., (1989). Nutricion de la cachama negra, Colossoma macropomum, pisces Characidae. II. Niveles proteinicos e importancia relativa de la proteina animal. a partir del primer alevinaje. B. Tecnico. Fortaleza, DNOCS, 45(1):27-41.
- Ramos, O. V., Munoz, C. N., Longas, D. P. M., Navarro, R. F. and Meyer, F. M. E. (1992). Contribucion al conocimiento del cultivo intensivo de la cachama negra,

Colossoma macropomum, a una densidad d 2 individuos/m² con un concentrado peletizado al 3% de la biomassa total. In: La Cachama: Ensayos sobre Nutricion y Cultivo. Inderena. Estacion Pisicola de Repelon. pp 19-24.

- Randall, D. J. & Wright, P. A., (1987). Ammonia distribution and excretion in fish. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 3:107-120.
- Rattagol, P. P., Wongchinda, N., Kungsuwan, A. & Swachathawongratana, S., (1979). Fish silage in Thailand: feeding trials on broiler chickens. In: Proc. I.P.F.C. Workshop Fish Silage, FAO Fish. Rep. No. 230, pp 55.
- Reinitz, G. L. and Yu, T. C. (1981). Effects of dietary lipids on growth and fatty acid composition of rainbow trout. Augaculture, 22: 359-368.
- Rumsey, G. L., (1981). Significance of nitrogen metabolism: why does the salmonid require a high protein diet? Salmonid 5:20-24.
- Rungruangsak, K. and Utne, F. (1981). Effect of different acidified in the digestive tract and on growth rate of rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. Aquaculture, 22:67-79.
- Saint-Paul, U. (1986). Potential for Aquaculture of South American freshwater fishes:a review. Aquaculture, 54:205-240.
- Silva, J. W. B. e. (1981). Recursos Perqueiros de Águas Interiores do Brasil, especialmente do Nordeste. Boletim Técnico do DNOCS, Fortaleza, CE. 98p.
- Silva, J. W. B. e; Alencar, P. F., Farias, J. O. Da Silva, M. I. N. (1984). Resultados de um ensaio de policultivo de carpa espelho, *Cyprinus carpio*, L., 1758 vr. specularis, e tambaqui, colossoma macropomun Curvier, 1818. Boletin Técnico do DNOCS, 42(2): 121-152.
- Silva, J. W. B. e; Caminha, M. I. de O. e Nobre, M. I. da S. (1986). Resultados de um ensaio sobre o cultivo do hibrido de tambaqui, Colossoma macropomum Cuvier, 1818, com a pirapitinga, Colossome brachypomum Cuvier, 1818, realizado no Centro de Pesquisas Ictiológicas "Rodolpho von Ihering", Pentecoste, Ceará, Brasil. Revista Ciéncia Aoronômica. 17(2): 7-18.
- Silva, J. W. B. e; Sobrinho, A. C., Melo, F. R. and De Sousa, L. S. (1987). Resultados de um policultivo de tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum* Cuvier, 1818; com carpa espelho. *Cyprinus carpio* L., 1758 vr. specularis, e machos de tilapia do Nito, *Oreochromis niloticus* L., 1766, alimentados com milho, *Zea Mays* L. Boletim Técnico do DNOCS. Fortaleza, CE. 45(1/2):5-26.
- Silva, M. C. M. da. e Pinheiro, F. A. (1989). Cultivo de Colossoma na CODEVASF (situação atual). In: Cultivo de Colossoma. ed. A. Hernandez. Guadalupe, Bogotá. p. 259-275.
- Smith, B. W. and Lovell, R. T. (1973). Determination of apparent protein digestibility in feeds for channel catfish. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc., 102: 831-835.

- Smith, R. S. (1978). Methods for determination of digestibility and metabolize energy of feedstuff for finfish. In: Symposium of Finfish Nutrition and Fish Feed Technology, Hamburger. EIFAC, 12p.
- Spyridakis, P., Metailler, R., Gabaudan, J and Riaza, A. (1989). Studies on nutrient digestibility in european sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. 1. Methodological aspects concerning faeces collection. Aquaculture, 77: 61-70.
- Staton, W. R. and Yeoh, Q. L. (1977). Low fermentation method for conserving trash fish waste under SE Asian conditions In: Proceedings of the Conference on the Handling, Processing and Marketing of Tropical Fish. Tropical Products Institute, London, PP. 227-282.
- Steffens, W. (1981). Protein utilization by rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri, and carp, Cyprinus carpio: A brief review. Aquaculture, 23:337-345.
- Stone, F. E. and Hardy, R. W. (1986). Nutrional value of acid stabilised silage and liquified fish protein. J. Sci. Food Agric., 37: 797-803.
- Stone, F. E, Hardy, R. W., Shearer, K. D. and Scott, T. M. (1989). Utilization of fish silage by rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri. Aquauciture, 76: 109-118.
- Tacon, A. G. J. (1990). Standard Methods for the Nutrition and Feeding of Farmed Fish and Shrimp. Washington. Argent. Lab. Press. V.1.
- Tacon, A. G., (1987). The nutrition and feeding of farmed fish and shrimp a training manual. 1. The essential nutrients. Gcp/RLA/075/ITA - FAO Field Document 2/3. Brasilia, Brasil. 117pp.
- Tacon, A. G. J. and Cowey, C. B., (1985). Protein and amino acid requirements. In: Fish Energetics - New Perspectives. Ed. P Tyler and P. calow. Croom Helm (publishers) Itd., London and Sydney. pp. 155-183.
- Tacon, A. G. J., Haaster, J. V. Featherstone, P. H., Kerr, K. and Jackson, A. J. (1984). Studies on the utilization of full-fat soybean and solvent extracted soybean meal in a complete diet for rainbow trout. Bull. Jon. Soc. Sci. Fish., 49: 1437-1443.

Tatterson, N. I. & Windsor, L. M., (1974). Fish silage. J. Sci. Food Agric., 25:3369-379.

- Tatterson, N. I. & Wingall, J., (1976). Fish silage. Process Biochemistry, December. pp 17-19.
- Twiddy, D. R., Cross, S. J. & Cooke, R. D., (1987). Parameters involved in the production of lactic acid preserved fish starchy substrate combinations. International Journal of Food Sci. and Technol., 22:115-121.

- Van Wyk, H. J. and Heydenrych, C. M. S. (1985). The production of naturraly fermented fish silage using various lactobacilli and diferent carbohydrate sources. J. Sci. Food Agric., 38: 1093-1103.
- Walton, M. J. and Cowey, C. B. (1982). Aspects of intermediate metabolism in salmonid fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 73(B): 59-79.

Watanabe, T. (1982). Lipid nutrition in fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 73(B): 3-15.

Watts, R. L. & watts, D. C., (1974). Nitrogen metabolism in fish. Chem. Zool., 8:369-446.

- Wee, K. L., Kerdchuen, N. and Edwards, P. (1986). Use of waste grown tilapia silage as feed for Clarias batrachus L. J. Aqua Trop., 1: 127-137.
- Werder, U and Saint-Paul, U. (1978). Feeding trials with herbivorous and omniverous Amazonian fishes. Aquaculture, 15: 175-177.
- Wessels J. P. H., Petrescu, I., Post, B. J., Harvey, R. A. (1980). The effect of spray-drying method of preparation and the age of fish sliage on its tryptophan content. Fishing Industry Research Institute Annual Report. 34:77-79.
- Wilson, R. P. & Cowey, C. B., (1985). Amino acid composition of whole body tissue of rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon. Aquaculture, 48:373-376.
- Windell, J. T., Foltz, J. W. and Sarokon, J. A. (1978). Methods of fecal collection and nutrient leaching in digestibility studies. Prog. Fish Cult., 40: 51-55.
- Windsor, M. L. (1973). Production of liquid fish silage for animal feed. Technical Conference of Fisheries Products. FAO. Tokyo, 4-11, pp 1-7.
- Wood, J. F., Carper, B. S. and Nicolaides, L. (1985). Preparation and evaluation of diets containing fish silage, cooked fish preserved formic acid and low temperatures dried fish meal as a protein source for mirror carp *Cyprinus carpio*. Aquaculture, 44: 27-40.
- Zeitoun, I. H. Halver, J. E., Ulrey, D. E. and Tack, P. I., (1973). Influence of salinity on protein requirements of rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*, fingerlings. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can. 30:1867-1873.

	Minced Tilapia	Formic A	cid Silage	Correlation coefficient	Biological Ferr	mented Silage	Correlation coefficient
Storage days		4 days	30 days		4 days	30 days	
Amino Acid							
Alanine	6.33	6.21	6.58	0.90	6.04	6.28	0.24
Arginine*	6.58	6.40	6.10	-0.97	6.13	6.93	0.75
Aspartic acid	8.21	8.14	7.99	-0.98	8.31	8.73	1.00
Cysteine	0.91	1.17	1.32	0.85	1.01	0.99	0.44
Glutamic acid	14.04	14.56	14.40	0.31	14.14	14.52	1.00
Glycine	6.83	6.49	6.54	-0.49	6.45	6.72	0.12
Histidine*	2.20	2.08	2.00	-0.90	2.17	2.26	0.90
Isoleucine*	4.78	4.75	4.58	-1.00	4.58	4.51	-0.78
Leucine*	8.33	8.26	8.29	-0.20	8.18	8.21	-0.44
Lysine*	8.85	8.61	8.37	-0.92	8.03	8.00	-0.64
Methionine*	2.53	2.40	2.41	-0.55	2.16	2.51	0.35
Phenylananine*	3.42	3.30	3.39	0.16	3.14	3.11	-0.67
Proline	4.59	4.39	4.18	-0.93	4.39	4.01	-0.98
Serine	3.81	3.61	3.64	-0.49	2.78	2.67	-0.67
Threonine*	4.80	4.62	4.49	-0.88	4.67	4.72	-0.25
Tryptophan*	1.32	0.76	0.66	-0.71	1.18	1.10	-0.40
Tyrosine	3.05	2.79	2.84	-0.45	3.01	2.51	-1.00
Valine*	4.09	4.01	4.00	-0.67	3.87	3.97	0.20

Appendix I - Correlation coefficient of the storage days and the amount of total amino acid in formic acid and biological fermented silage.

* Essential Amino Acids

	Minced Tilapia	Formic A	cid Silage	Correlation coefficient	Biological Fer	mented Silage	Correlation coefficient
Storage days		4 days	30 days		4 days	30 days	
Amino Acid							
Alanine	0.16	0.63	2.30	0.99	0.31	1.84	0.99
Arginine*	0.02	0.27	0.92	0.99	0.06	0.77	0.99
Aspartic acid	0.06	0.20	0.96	0.99	0.05	0.61	0.99
Cysteine	NDb	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Glutamic acid	0.29	0.91	2.88	0.99	0.18	2.19	0.98
Glycine	0.16	0.28	1.01	0.99	0.05	0.68	0.95
Histidine*	0.02	0.27	0.81	0.98	0.16	0.79	0.99
Isoleucine*	0.07	0.74	2.52	0.98	0.46	2.26	0.99
Leucine*	0.09	0.75	2.49	0.98	0.25	2.01	0.99
Lysine*	0.13	0.74	2.93	0.99	0.25	2.40	0.99
Methionine*	0.03	0.38	1.21	0.98	0.21	1.13	0.99
Phenylananine*	0.04	0.67	1.70	0.96	0.48	1.41	0.98
Proline	0.07	0.41	1.26	0.98	0.18	0.97	0.99
Serine	0.11	0.56	1.82	0.99	0.38	1.65	0.99
Threonine*	0.08	0.64	2.16	0.99	0.38	2.02	0.99
Tryptophan*	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Tyrosine	0.05	0.67	0.91	0.79	0.58	0.75	0.77
Valine*	0.06	0.54	1.74	0.98	0.32	1.51	0.99

Appendix II - Correlation coefficient of the storage days and the amount of free amino acid in formic acid and biological fermented silage.

* Essential Amino Acids

^b ND = Not Determinated

		Paired Differer	ices			
Diets	Mean		95% Confidence Interval of the Difference			
	(final weight - initial weight)	Std. Deviation	Lower	Upper		
1	132.0267	3.0313	132.9374	131.1160		
2	132.4533	1.3188	132.8496	132.0571		
3	135.0067	0.9633	135.2961	134.7173		
4	133.0400	0.9091	133.3131	132.7669		
5	135.3156	1.6864	135.8222	134.8089		

Appendix III – Frequency data for initial and final fish weight in the 5 diets Paired Differences

Appendix IV - Paired sample correlation for initial and final fish weight in the 5 diets

Diets	N	Correlation	Significance
1	45	0.899	Sig ¹
2	45	0.978	Sig
3	45	0.982	Sig
4	45	0.984	Sig
5	45	0.943	Sig

' Sig - Significant

		Sum of Squares	Degrees of freedom	Mean square	F	Significance
	Between Groups	0.103	4	0.02581		
ADG ²	Within Groups	19.309	85	0.227	0.114	ns ¹
	Total	19.412	89			
	Between Groups	0.0191	4	0.00478	and the second	10
SGR ³	Within Groups	5.782	85	0.06802	0.070	ns
	Total	5.801	89			
	Between Groups	0.0487	4	0.01218		
AFCR ⁴	Within Groups	10.475	85	0.123	0.099	ns
	Total	10.525	89			
	Between Groups	0.242	4	0.06056		
PER ⁵	Within Groups	26.401	85	0.311	0.195	ns
	Total	26.643	89			

Appendix V - Analysis of variance (one-way anova) for the effect of each diet on growth parameters

ns - Not significant at 5 % level

² ADG - Average Daily Weight Gain

3 SGR - Specific Growth Rate

⁴ AFCR - Apparent Food Conversion Ratio

⁵ PER - Protein Efficiency Ratio

Diets	Absorbance readings	Cr ₂ O ₃	Mean
	0.050	2.633	
1	0.040	2.123	2.258
	0.038	2.020	
	0.065	3.398	
2	0.030	1.612	2.292
	0.035	1.867	
	0.033	1.765	
3	0.065	3.398	2.650
	0.053	2.786	
	0.061	3.194	
4	0.042	2.225	2.684
	0.050	2.633	
	0.052	2.735	
5	0.050	2.6327	2.531
	0.042	2.2245	

Appendix VI - Cr2O3 content in fish feces

Appendix VII - Average protein content of fish feces and experimental diets used in each treatment

Diets	Crude protein in feces	Crude protein in diet
1	13.07	30.81
2	13.31	30.76
3	13.76	30.25
4	13.91	30.00
5	14.12	31.00

		Sum of squares	Degrees of freedom	Mean square	F	Significance
	Between Groups	55.15100	4	13.78775		
Moisture	Within Groups	1.71233	10	0.17123	80.52025	0.000000145
	Total	56.86333	14			Sig
	Between Groups	26.05044	4	6.51261		
Protein	Within Groups	1.15540	10	0.11554	56.36671	0.000008
	Total	27.20584	14			Sig
	Between Groups	7.92976	4	1.98244		
Lipid	Within Groups	2.06573	10	0.20657	9.59679	0.001872
	Total	9.99549	14			Sig
	Between Groups	2.02073	4	0.50518		
Ash	Within Groups	2.30820	10	0.23082	2.18865	0.143690
	Total	4.32893	14			ns

Appendix VIII - Analysis of variance (one-way anova) for the effect of each diet on fish carcass composition

ns - not significant

slg- significant different





